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Corporate Information
NAIE R

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr Yeung Yung (Chairman)
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Mr Hui Wing Sang, Wilson (Deputy Chairman)
Dr Huang Chunhua (Deputy Chairman)
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Mr Liu Stephen Quan

Dr Zhu Shengliang

Mr Li Zhengshan

Mr Ting Kwok Kit, Johnny
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Non-executive Director
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Dr Song Jian
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Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace
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Mr Ting Kwok Kit, Johnny
AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

Unit 701, Citicorp Centre, 18 Whitfield Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

East West Bank
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9550 Flair Drive
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Chairman’s Statement
FERES

Dear Shareholders,

The Group’s revenue and gross profit from continuous operations
of 2018 amounted to HK$61,250,000 (2017: HK$35,434,000)
and HK$8,319,000 (2017: HK$9,422,000) respectively. The Group
will continue to set priority on investing in the development work
for mass production and in construction of manufacturing bases.
The Board believes that it is normal at the final development
stage of automobile industry. With completion of manufacturing
bases and start of production and marketing of our products,
the financial conditions of the Group will witness fundamental
improvements.

It is worth noting that in 2018, the world’'s economies growth
slowed down at various rates. Especially for Mainland China,
the Central and local Governments of China are all under
unprecedented pressure due to negative factors such as trade
disputes between China and the US, therefore, they all have
adopted a highly cautious stance toward large scale investment
projects. The review of and amendments to China’s industrial
subsidy policies started in 2016 have further enhanced the
uncertainty of technology choice, subsidy scheme and financing
costs.

The Board continues to be highly optimistic of the clean energy
automobile market of China. The Group has been promoting its
technology in China relentlessly since many years ago and has
realized a great breakthrough in 2018. The latest industrial policy
of Chinese Government has clearly included “range extender
electric vehicles” in the category of “Electric Vehicles (EV)”. In the
"Regulation of Investment in Automobile Industry” implemented
on the 10th of January, 2019, it says: “Electric Vehicle (EV) projects
are referring to these projects whose product using electric motor
to provide driving force, such as BEV (including range extender
electric vehicles) and fuel-cell electric vehicle (FCEV).” With this
most favorable policy change, the Group is one of the most well-
positioned companies to market range extender electric vehicles
since it is the earliest advocator and the most mature developer of
this technology.

—0O O O— Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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Chairman’s Statement

In March 2018, the Group launched HKGT at Geneva Auto
Show and immediately launched K350 and H500 at Beijing Auto
Show. HKGT is among the 3 finalists of the Tropee du Design
2018 award by the French magazine L'Automobile Magazine.
The award is the most prestigious prizes in the world and being
considered among the three finalists is a great accomplishment
per se. With the smooth implementation of show car development
and very positive feedbacks from the market, the top priority of
the Group in 2019 is to complete all development of sample cars
and mass production models, and all other important milestone
events according to work plan.

On capital operation, the Group will proactively induct strategic
investments to provide strong capital support to mass production
of clean energy automobiles. Taking into consideration of
uncertain macro-economic environment, the Group will continue
to strictly control operational costs and to ensure the completion
of development work and production base construction.
Even though there are fierce competition and adversity, the
Board strongly believes that the Group will witness important
breakthroughs of its clean energy automobile business in the year
of 2019.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all shareholders,

directors and employees of the Group for their tremendous
support!

Yeung Yung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

(in

ESREREREREN

Below are the biographical details of the Directors and the Senior
Management of the Group as at the date of this annual report.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr YEUNG Yung ({®@), aged 61, was appointed a Director
of the Company in November 1998, and is the Chairman of the
Group, the chairman of the nomination committee and a member
of the remuneration committee of the Board. Dr Yeung is also a
substantial shareholder of the Company. Dr Yeung holds a PhD
Degree in Economics from the China’s Southwest University of
Finance & Economics. Dr Yeung was elected as a director of the
John Hopkins University Center — Nanjing University Centre for
Chinese and American Studies (#F E LR R OIEE) . Dr
Yeung was the chairman, chief executive officer and president
of Brilliance China Automotive Holdings Limited and also the
chairman and president of Shenyang lJinbei Passenger Vehicle
Manufacture Co., Ltd. from 1992 to 2002. Dr Yeung is a well-
known, highly successful automotive industrialist with over
18 years' experience in the automobile industry as well as a
pioneering international financier from China.

Mr XU Jianguo ( #& 2Bl ) , aged 51, was appointed a Director of
the Company in June 2010. He is also the Chief Executive Officer
of the Group. Mr Xu holds a Master's Degree in mechanical
engineering from the Shanghai Jiaotong University in the PRC.
He is currently the vice-president of the global sourcing division
in Hybrid Kinetic Motors Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company. Mr Xu has 20 years’ experience in the field
of mechanical engineering and automotive industries. He was
one of the key experts who developed Chinese Computer aided
engineering industry in 1990s. Mr Xu has extensive experience
in product development, engineering management, product
planning, purchasing and supplier management. Mr Xu was
involved in multiple projects for certain well-known auto makers
in Asia and Europe and has extensive expertise in automotive
development procedure. Mr Xu has in-depth understanding in the
global automotive industry, in particular the Chinese automotive
industry.

—0O O O— Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

sE2 NN EEEBERE

Mr HUI Wing Sang, Wilson (&7 %) , aged 51, was appointed
a Director of the Company in September 2007. He is also the
Deputy Chairman of the Group and one of the authorized
representatives of the Company. Mr Hui holds a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration from the University of Surrey and a
Master’s Degree in Professional Accounting and Information
Systems from the City University of Hong Kong. He has been an
associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
(HKICS) since 1996 and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (HKICPA) since 1999. Mr Hui possesses more than
20 years of experience in accounting, finance and corporate
management.

Dr HUANG Chunhua (% & &), aged 55, was appointed
a Director of the Company in June 2010, and is the Deputy
Chairman of the Group. Dr Huang holds a Bachelor of Economics
Degree from the Wuhan University in China, an MBA and PhD
in Marketing (focus on corporate strategy) from the University
of Strathclyde in Scotland. Dr Huang is also the vice-chairman of
Hybrid Kinetic Motors Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Dr Huang had been the vice-chairman of the Company
between November 2002 and October 2007 and its chief financial
officer between August 2000 and September 2004. He is an
independent non-executive director of China Rare Earth Holdings
Limited (listed in Hong Kong). He was among the first generation
China equity analysts and had in-depth knowledge about China’s
automotive and the transport infrastructure sectors, as well as
red chip conglomerates. Dr Huang was a pioneering financier for
China’s first wave of private companies going public in Hong Kong
during 1999 and 2001.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

(in
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Dr WANG Chuantao (EJII&), aged 65, was appointed
a Director of the Company in April 2009, and is the Deputy
Chairman of the Group. He is also the chief executive officer of
Hybrid Kinetic Motors Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. Dr Wang has more than 30 years’ experience in
the field of manufacturing engineering. He is an internationally
recognized leading technologist and business leader in the
development and implementation of advanced stamping using
computer-aided engineering technology and production systems
for digital die manufacturing and stamping for large scale
automotive applications. He had been the Chief Die Engineer
and Technical Fellow in General Motors Corp in Michigan, the
US before he joined the Group. He is armed with interdisciplinary
education, diverse and in-depth knowledge and management
experience in the automotive industry. He received his doctorate
in industrial systems and engineering and his Master’s Degree in
materials science and engineering from The Ohio State University,
Columbus, Ohio, the US and his Bachelor's Degree and Master’s
Degree in mechanical engineering from Chongging University,
Chongging, the PRC.

Mr LIU Stephen Quan (8IR), aged 64, was appointed
a Director of the Company in October 2007. Mr Liu holds a
Master’s Degree in business, economics and finance from the
China Europe International Business School (CEIBS). Mr Liu has
extensive knowledge and experience in the management of supply
chain business. He has been in the supply chain industry for more
than 20 years and was one of the founders of several industrial
companies and investment companies in China and the US.

Dr ZHU Shengliang (kB R ), aged 68, was appointed a
Director of the Company in May 2008. Dr Zhu holds a PhD
Degree in Economics from the Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics. Dr Zhu is currently the chairman of
Ningbo Meilide Consulting Co., Limited, a subsidiary of the
Company. Dr Zhu possesses extensive experience in finance and
corporate management. He took senior managerial roles in several
companies, including Shanghai Shenhua Holdings Co., Ltd., a
PRC-listed company.

—0O O O— Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr LI Zhengshan (ZEIEWL) , aged 49, was appointed a Director
of the Company in June 2010. Mr Li holds a Master of Arts Degree
in English language and literature from the Shanghai International
Studies University. He has been the Executive Assistant to Dr
Yeung Yung, the Chairman of the Company since 2003 and
the deputy general manager of the PRC investment division of
the Company. He is currently a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. He is responsible for corporate coordination and
business development of the Group in China.

Mr TING Kwok Kit, Johnny ( TEI##), aged 57, was
appointed a Director of the Company in November 2014, and
is the Company Secretary and the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company. He is also one of the authorized representatives of
the Company. He had previously served as the independent non-
executive Director from 19 November 2007 to 31 May 2011. Mr
Ting holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics from the University
of Victoria of Canada and a MBA from the City University of Hong
Kong. Mr Ting is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of the Certified General
Accountants Association of Canada. He is also a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Mr Ting
has more than 15 years' experience in accounting, finance and
corporate management.

Mr CHEN Xiao (FEBE) , aged 47, was appointed a Director of
the Company in November 2014. Mr Chen has joined the Group
since April 2008. He has been one of the senior management of
the Group and has been assuming the roles of general manager
or deputy manager or director (as the case may be) of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr Chen is primarily responsible for
identifying, evaluating, participating in commercial negotiations
and financial planning for the implementation of potential
projects for the Group in the PRC. Mr Chen was graduated from
the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics ( /@B 4%
KE)in 1994, majoring in Investment, Economics and Financial
Management (R B A& EE ) . He has extensive experience
in the areas of securities investment, corporate finance, capital
management and merger and acquisition in the PRC.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr XIA Tingkang, Tim (EER), aged 63, was appointed a
non-executive Director of the Company in June 2010. Dr Xia
is currently an independent non- executive director of Jian's
ePayment System Limited (listed in Hong Kong). Dr Xia holds a
Bachelor's Degree from Peking University, the PRC, a PhD from
The Ohio State University, the US and a Juris Degree from the
Columbia University School of Law, the US. Dr Xia is currently a
senior partner of an international law firm, Locke Lord LLP, and
a registered U.S. patent attorney. Prior to his legal career, he was
a physicist specializing in supercomputing, large scale computer
simulation of complex fluids, super-thin-films of polymers, and
Josephson junction superconducting arrays, electromagnetic
properties of high temperature superconductors, and physics
of granular metals. Dr Xia also counsels clients of international
corporate law.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr SONG Jian (5Rf&) , aged 61, was appointed an independent
non-executive Director of the Company in May 2010. Dr Song
holds a Doctorate’s and Bachelor’'s Degrees in Tsinghua University.
He is currently a professor of Automotive Engineering Department
in Tsinghua University. He is also the Executive Vice-President of
the Tsinghua Automotive Engineering Institute, the Vice-Director
of the National Laboratory in Automotive Safety and Energy
and an expert consultant to the Beijing Government. Dr Song
was formerly the Deputy Dean of the Automotive Engineering
Department at Tsinghua University.

Dr ZHU Guobin (%kE ), aged 57, was appointed a non-
executive Director in July 2010 and re-designated as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 31
December 2012. Dr Zhu holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in history, a
Master’s Degree in history and a Master’s Degree in law from the
Renmin University of China, a Master's degree in law from the
University of Hong Kong and a PhD in law and a HDR (Dipléme
d’'Habilitation a Diriger des Recherches) from the University of
Aix-Marseilles in France. Dr Zhu is currently a professor of law
in the School of Law of City University of Hong Kong. He is also
a guest professor at Shandong University, Sichuan University,
and at Schools of Law of Wuhan University, Zhejiang University
and Qingdao University in the PRC. He is a council member of
the Chinese Association of Constitutional Law and a member
of International Association of Constitutional Law and French
Society of Comparative Legislation, and an titular member of
the International Academy of Comparative Law. Dr Zhu is also
a Director of The Legal Education Fund Limited (HK), and also a
council member of Hubei Province Overseas Friendship Association.

—0O O O— Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2018
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr CHENG Tat Wa (BB ), aged 54, was appointed an
independent non-executive Director of the Company in August
2012. He is also the chairman of the audit committee and a
member of the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of the Board. Mr Cheng holds a Master’s Degree in
international accounting from City University of Hong Kong and
a LLB (HONS) from Northumbria University. Mr Cheng is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
He is an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators of Canada and a member of the Certified
General Accountants Association of Canada. He is also a member
of the Institute of Internal Auditors. Mr Cheng has more than 15
years of extensive experience in the business accounting fields.

Dr LI Jianyong (FE®#H), aged 61, was appointed an
independent non-executive Director of the Company in December
2012. Dr Li holds a Doctoral Degree in economics from the
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics ( 78 & 81 4% KX
£) . Dr Li obtained the accreditation and qualification of sponsor
representative* (fRE& & A ) from the Securities Association
of China (FEEHZEWE ) in 2007. Dr Li had served various
senior positions in GF Securities Company Limited ( &2 7 7 %
AR AT . Dr Li was also appointed as the vice-chairman of
the Securities Association of China in 2007. Dr Li has extensive
experience in the securities and investment field in the PRC. Dr Li
is currently a professor of the Chinese Finance Research Institute of
the Southwestern University of Finance and Economics.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

(in

ESREREREREN

Mr CHAN Sin Hang (BRZ %), aged 34, was appointed an
independent non-executive Director of the Company in December
2012. He is also a member of the audit committee of the Board.
Mr Chan holds a Bachelor’s Degree in business (accounting) from
the Australian Catholic University. Mr Chan is a full member of
the CPA Australia. He is also a member of HKICPA since March
2013. Mr Chan had been an auditor in CPA firms in Hong Kong,
and a chief financial officer and a company secretary of a financial
services company based in Hong Kong and China. Mr Chan has
more than 10 years of experience in the accounting field, and is
currently a financial controller of a Hong Kong company.

Mr LEE Cheung Yuet, Horace (ZE# 1), aged 37, was
appointed an independent non-executive Director of the Company
in September 2017. He is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee and a member of both the audit committee and
the nomination committee of the Board. He had been an
executive director of Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited from
5 February 2018 to 31 March 2019 and is an independent non-
executive director of Chuan Holdings Limited (both are listed in
Hong Kong). Mr Lee holds a Bachelor's Degree of Commerce
(Accounting) from The University of Queensland, Australia since
2004. Mr Lee is a Fellow Member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants since 2014. Mr Lee has over 14 years of
working experience in merger and acquisition, financial reporting,
investment analysis and business development. Mr Lee has been
taking up senior positions in the financial and business sectors
for over 8 years and he also has extensive experience in terms of
Hong Kong listed companies.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Mr Ting Kwok Kit,
Johnny, an executive Director of the Company. Please refer to the
biographical details of Mr Ting as disclosed above.

*  For identification purpose only
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors” or the “Board”)
are pleased to present to the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”) their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018
(the "Year").

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
AND OTHER INFORMATION

OVERVIEW

The Group principally engages in the development and sales of
battery management systems and spare parts, high-tech electric
motor vehicles, and advanced batteries materials. The Group is
also engaged in the provision of finance leasing services.

During the Year, the principal businesses of the Group included
the development and/or sales of:

o battery management systems and spare parts;
. high-tech electric motor vehicles; and

o advanced batteries materials, including key new energy
automobile components and single and few-layer graphene.

The Group's revenue and gross profit for the Year amounted
to approximately HK$61.3 million (2017: HK$35.4 million) and
HK$8.3 million (2017: HK$9.4 million). The gross profit for the
Year was primarily attributable to the sales of advanced battery
management systems. The loss attributable to shareholders for
the Year amounted to approximately HK$288.6 million (2017:
HK$306.0 million). The loss for the Year was mainly attributable to
administrative expenses.

The administrative expenses for the Year decreased to
approximately HK$365.4 million (2017: HK$435.8 million) which
consisted of research and development expenses of approximately
HK$21.9 million (2017: HK$62.7 million), operating lease charges
in respect of land and buildings of approximately HK$42.9
million (2017: HK$35.1 million), employee benefit expense
(including wages and salaries, pension costs and other benefits)
of approximately HK$167.3 million (2017: HK$150.5 million) and
depreciation expenses of approximately HK$29.4 million (2017:
HK$21.9 million).
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During the Year, the Group had remained keen to seek
opportunities for investment, cooperation and/or collaboration
with renowned organizations, institution, experts and/or other
strategic alliances with a view to exploring ways to strengthen
the Group's supply chains, enhance its production capacity and
operational flexibility and widen its expertise in such areas which
were considered to be beneficial to the sustainable development,
expansion and diversification of the Group's businesses.

Jlin

Battery management systems and spare parts
The Group has been engaging in the automotive batteries
business since 2011.

The Group identifies, secures or sources from time to time
quality manufacturers and/or suppliers worldwide with high-level
engineering capabilities and/or manufacturing capacities for the
Group's automotive innovations and products.

We consider the Group’s environmental automobile and
related businesses will be restrained unless there is innovative
breakthrough in battery architecture and technology. In this
respect, we have established a team of experts with extensive
experience and expertise in a wide variety of applications in the
automobile industry, which forms part of our core strength in the
development of, among other things, advanced and high quality
batteries, battery management systems and related technologies.

The high voltage battery pack strategy developed by the Group
utilizes one common battery cell and module within the pack
for all cars. Each battery pack is configurable into a wide variety
of shapes and sizes to efficiently fill available space while not
constraining the overall dimensions that are critical to the unique
styling and comfort of other models. Each sedan and SUV model
offered in the Group’s product portfolio will therefore have a
unigue exterior and interior design and styling as a result of not
constraining the overall size of the vehicle or its battery pack
respectively.
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The battery’s charging control system has been developed to
intelligently allow the battery to charge in both AC and DC fast
charging modes; while a highly efficient low emission turbo
charged 2 cylinder engine is used as the power source to charge
the battery and extend the range of the vehicle.

We have continued the development of our graphene enhanced
“Super Battery Technology” in 2018 with functional prototype
“a-sample” development. The Group has newly developed a
state-of-the-art high voltage 28Ah lithium-ion battery cell using a
graphene coating on the anode to improve conductivity, allowing
it to charge much faster than other lithium ion cells. The battery is
designed for optimum energy and power density, not to mention
to guarantee longer service life intervals and support a higher
number of recharging cycles. Our battery technology will offer
a much wider temperature range than other lithium batteries
allowing it to maintain an 80% efficiency at lower temperature
extremes.

In addition, the Group has its own manufacturing facilities in
Lianyungang, Jiangsu Province, the PRC for the processing of
battery cells and assembling of batteries and spare parts into
battery management systems. As part of the manufacturing
process of the battery management systems, the Group sources
battery cells from certain designated suppliers, and provide the
necessary expertise, technical know-how and support to such
suppliers so as to aid them in building production lines that are
developed and tailored for the manufacture and supply of battery
cells exclusively to the Group.

For the Year, the total revenue derived from the sales of battery
management systems and spare parts amounted to approximately
HK$61.2 million (2017: HK$35.1 million). The increase was mainly
due to a rise in the volume of sales orders from the Group's
customers.
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tech electric motor vehicles

The Company has a long-term commitment to the global
automobile industry. We believe that the demand for high-tech,

clean
the g

and sustainable transportation will continue to grow under
lobal trend of urbanization and proactive imposition of

environmental regulation.

In 2018, we began actively working on innovative ideas with our
business partners to develop our cars and automated features.
This is expected to bring a new level of autonomous driving and
connectivity to our cars to support a safer and more efficient
driving experience.

Continuous brand building — debut of new concept car

Our vision continues to focus on building the brand
and creating unique and timeless vehicles and designs.
Immediately following the introduction of our fourth
concept car HKGT at the 2018 Geneva motor show, we
introduced two additional concept cars in 2018 at the
Beijing motor show, the K350 luxury SUV and H500 luxury
sedan, making a total of six concept cars developed and
introduced to date, from a total of 12 that are planned in
the overall product portfolio. Work has begun to debut
our newest addition to the family of sedans “H300" in
the very near future with our continued and long-lasting
collaboration with our development partner, Pininfarina
S.p.A. ("Pininfarina”), a recognized world leading company
in the field of design, engineering, prototyping and niche
manufacturing of motor vehicles. We are very proud of our
accomplishment in the design of our vehicles as they have
been very well received by both the media and the public in
China and in Europe.
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We believe that design/styling will play an important role
in what distinguishes us from our competitors. However,
our vision goes beyond having a great design. We aim to
become a leader in the development and manufacture of
clean energy vehicles and endeavour to improve energy
efficiency and enhance energy security, safety, and reliability
for our customers, which are mainly achieved in the
following three ways:

(1)  Electrification: Combining our eDrive and our
graphene super lithium battery technology with three
types of advanced combustion systems and fuels to
extend the range capabilities of our cars. Our goal is to
maximize mobility and minimize energy consumption
from the grid. Thus, eliminating range anxiety and
dependencies from the charging infrastructure for our
customers.

(2) Integration: We focus relentlessly on developing
connected and autonomous synergies with high
performance computing and programming capabilities
in our electrical systems architecture.

(3) Innovation: We place emphasis on establishing
and collaborating with key partners to accelerate
innovative “Smart” systems research, development,
and production in our vehicles.

Establishment of manufacturing base with strategic alliance

During the Year, the Group had gained support of
a PRC municipal government towards the proposed
implementation of a business plan regarding the
establishment of a manufacturing base in its municipality.
The auspices of the PRC municipal government is expected
to create a more favourable business environment for the
implementation of the Group's business plan.

During the Year, there was no revenue generated from the
segment of high-tech electric motor vehicles (2017: HK$nil).
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o Finance leasing business

The Group has a valid business licence for the operation
of finance leasing business in the PRC. To complement
the development of its high-tech electric motor vehicles
business, the Group will continue to provide finance leasing
arrangement to potential customers, which is expected to
help promote the sale and use of electric motor vehicles and
bring steady interest income for the Group.

For the Year, the revenue recorded for the Group’s finance
leasing business was approximately HK$59,000 (2017:
HK$301,000).

Advanced batteries materials

The Group is dedicated to the research and development of
advanced batteries materials and has an experienced team of
experts with diverse expertise in energy management, system
controls, power conversion and energy storage technologies
for automobiles. During the Year, leveraging their combined
expertise, the Group has continued its efforts in the research and
development of single and few-layer graphene, which is an ideal
material for super batteries, electronic traction motor and power
electronic system for use in electric vehicles. The battery material
is still under its research and development stage and did not
generate any revenue for the Year.

o Other research project with academic and research
institution

One of the Group's ongoing research projects is a 7-year
project with the University of California focusing on
graphene materials for automobile applications, which is
expected to be completed in 2020.

o Protection of intellectual property rights

To protect intellectual property rights, the Group applied
for patent registration to the United States Patent and
Trademark Office (“USPTO") in respect of our interest in
invention (namely, “NANOPOROUS GRAPHENE NANOWIRES
AND PRODUCING METHODS AND APPLICATIONS OF
SAME"). USPTO approved our application and granted the
Group the rights to the invention under the patent number
US9,796,592 B2.

For the Year, there was no revenue recorded from this segment of
business (2017: Nil).
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PROSPECTS

The Company has a long-term commitment to the global
automobile industry.

The PRC government is keen on combating air pollution and
narrowing the competitive gap between the global rivals and
its domestic automakers. To this end, the PRC government has
postponed implementing tough new sales quotas for new energy
vehicles (NEVs), which cover all electric battery vehicles (including
electric plug-in hybrids), and set goals for NEVs to make up at
least one-fifth of the PRC auto sales by the end of the next two
decades. Besides, the Chinese government will extend tax rebate
on purchases of NEVs until the end of 2020, and the Ministry of
Finance of the PRC has announced that tax exemption for NEVs
will be extended until the end of 2020. These are welcoming
policies and incentives for the PRC automobile industry, as they are
expected to spark a flurry of electric car deals and new launches of
new models of NEVs, and prompt automakers to look for concrete
and solid technology for the manufacturing of NEVs. We are fully
confident about the market potentials for the development of
NEVs in the foreseeable future.

We believe that we have prepared the Group for golden
opportunities as the Group has been developing, among other
things, technologies of powertrain, series of batteries and micro-
turbine range extender and equipped itself with the capability of
manufacturing the whole NEV on its own and formulated business
strategies to cater for the need of, and the anticipated demand
from, the vast of the market. With the debut of our concept cars
in the international arena, we have positioned ourselves as one of
the global NEVs manufacturers in the future.
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Leveraging on the above market trend and the foundation of
the Group, we will continue to strive for further technological
advancement in the development of NEVs. Like all market
players in the global automobile industry, in particular NEVs
manufacturers, the Group will continue to invest heavily in
research and development. We will continue to closely collaborate
with our business partners to explore business or investment
opportunities as it has always been the Company’s strategy to
increase its working capital for the expansion of the business of
the Group. To complement our NEVs business, the Group will
continue to engage and expand its finance leasing business to fully
equip the Group as an integrated automaker and auto finance
leasing company. We believe our business plans, our persistence in
following our business philosophy to bring ideas, innovations and
changes to the automobile industry and our unwavering efforts
will allow us to better pursue and diversify our businesses, widen
our income streams and ultimately create long-term values for all
our stakeholders.

OTHER INFORMATION - UPDATE ON THE
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS IN THE US AGAINST
MEMBERS OF THE GROUP

Reference is made to the Company’s announcements dated
26 March 2017 and 14 November 2017 (collectively, the
“Announcements”) and to the Company's prior disclosure
regarding the Lawsuit referred to in the Announcements and
commenced by Townsend Ventures LLC, XALT Energy LLC and
XALT Energy MI, LLC (collectively, “XALT") against the Company
and alongside its subsidiary, Billion Energy Holdings Limited
("Billion Energy”) in the U.S. District Court for the Northern
District of Maryland.

As previously disclosed, the Lawsuit centered on a written
agreement between Billion Energy and XALT Energy, LLC (the
"Supply Agreement”). In August 2017, the U.S. District Court
granted the Company’s motion to compel that the claims in the
Lawsuit be subject to binding arbitration in Hong Kong, before
the Hong Kong International Arbitration Centre, as required by
the Supply Agreement. The U.S. District Court ordered the Lawsuit
stayed, and administratively closed, unless and until there is a
conclusion to such an arbitration. The U.S. District Court therefore
will not preside over the Lawsuit, although it may consider an
application to enter a judgment if and when there is a final
ruling after trial at arbitration from the Hong Kong International
Arbitration Centre. The parties to the Lawsuit are ordered to report
back to the U.S. District Court after conclusion of any arbitration
proceeding in Hong Kong.
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Since the U.S. District Court’s order was issued, XALT has not, to
the best of our Directors’ knowledge, taken any steps to initiate
such an arbitration. Currently, our Directors are not aware of any
active, open litigation between the Group and XALT relating to the
claims stated in the Lawsuit, and to date, no discovery has been
exchanged between the parties to the Lawsuit.

The Company disputes the claims in the Lawsuit. Litigation
is inherently unpredictable. There is no assurance that any
proceeding regarding the Lawsuit will or will not be commenced.
If any litigation is initiated before the Hong Kong International
Arbitration Centre, the Company will aggressively defend the
Lawsuit. The Company, after consultation with its legal counsel
and based on its current understanding of the facts, believes it has
meritorious defenses to all claims.

Qualified Opinion by the Auditor and actions taken by
the Board during the Year

The qualified opinion (the “Qualified Opinion” or "Audit
Qualification”) from ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, the
independent external auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”),
on the financial statements of the Group for the Year relates to
a prepayment to a supplier made by the Group pursuant to the
Supply Agreement (the “Prepayment”), which was brought from
2017. Please refer to the paragraph headed “Basis for Qualified
Opinions” of the Independent Auditor’'s Report contained in this
annual report for details.

During the Year, the Company had continued to use its best
efforts to attempt to approach and engaged in discussion
with the management of XALT with a view to resolving the
Lawsuit and removing the Audit Qualification. Despite repeated
attempts, there was no constructive discussion on the Lawsuit
between the Company and the management of XALT as XALT
was and is undergoing a change in its shareholding structure
by which Freudenberg Sealing Technologies GmbH & Co. KG
(“Freudenberg”), a leading supplier of sealing products in the
automotive industry based in Germany, acquired in February
2018, over 30% of the equity interest in XALT. In February 2019,
Freudenberg acquired further equity interest in XALT to bring
its shareholding in XALT to over 50%. In addition, based on the
various published media reports, Freudenberg has the intention
to further increase its stake in XALT to 100% in the future. Due
to the change in control of XALT, the Company has not yet
received any positive response from the management of XALT as
to whether they are willing or when to resolve the dispute or the
Lawsuit with the Company during the Year.
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The Board considers that the Company had provided all available
evidence to the Auditor's making of the Prepayment to, and
its receipt by the recipient XALT supplier (whom and whose
related parties are involved in the Lawsuit). While the Company
had repeatedly communicated and urged the management of
XALT to respond to the audit confirmation sent by the Auditor,
the ongoing dispute or the Lawsuit had made it difficult (if not
impracticable) for XALT to cooperate and accede to the request
for audit confirmation promptly. In the absence of the audit
confirmation from XALT, the Auditor is unable to conclusively
determine whether the Audit Qualification can be removed
according to the auditing standards.

Jlin

Since there is yet to have a resolution of issues relating to the
Prepayment, the Board considers it is premature to evaluate
whether or not the Prepayment (or any portion of it) is
unrecoverable, or whether the record of the Prepayment in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group were fairly stated
or whether any contingent liabilities shall be recognised by the
Company for the Lawsuit.

Given that the recoverability of the Prepayment cannot be
ascertained during the Year, the Board could not reasonably
and accurately estimate whether it is appropriate to provide any
impairment on the Prepayment. The Prepayment was therefore
recorded at its carrying amount of approximately HK$333,918,000
in the Group's financial statements as at 31 December 2017 and
2018. In addition, the management of the Company could not
reasonably and accurately estimate the contingent liabilities, if any,
of the Group as at 31 December 2017 and 2018. Accordingly, no
contingent liabilities in relation to the Lawsuit were disclosed in
the Group's financial statements.

In the absence of any direct audit confirmation from XALT on
the Prepayment or sufficient alternative evidence being obtained
to the satisfaction of the Auditor to allow it to ascertain the
likelihood as well as the extent of recovery of the Prepayment by
the Group in the foreseeable future, the Auditor was therefore not
be able to satisfy themselves as to (i) whether the carrying amount
of the Prepayment as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December
2017 are fairly stated by the Company; (ii) the recoverability of the
Prepayment as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017; and
(iii) the existence and completeness of the disclosure of contingent
liabilities in relation to the Prepayment. The Audit Qualification
was therefore repeated for the Year.
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Position of the Board and action plan to remove the
Audit Qualification

The Company will continue to engage in discussion with XALT
with the aim of resolving all parties’ legal claims amicably. There is,
however, no assurance whether or not these discussions will come
to any fruition.

The Board considers that the removal of the Audit Qualification
may hinge on resolution of the disputes or Lawsuit with XALT.
The Company has consulted its legal counsel in relation to the
latest status of the Lawsuit. Based on its current understanding
of the facts, the legal counsel suggested that the Company may
initiate arbitration in the Hong Kong International Arbitration
Centre (the "HKIAC") by submitting a Notice of Arbitration that
includes the complaint filed by XALT in the U.S. District Court, and
a counterclaim by the Company addressing the Prepayment.

To expedite the resolution of the dispute and the Lawsuit, the
Company will consider the initiation of arbitration proceeding as
advised by its legal counsel. The Company will take steps to seek
further advice and assistance from its legal counsel to prepare the
documents for the submission of the Notice of Arbitration to the
HKIAC. It is expected that the Company may submit such notice to
the HKIAC in the second half of 2019. As further advised by the
legal counsel of the Company, while HKIAC will normally facilitate
the applicants and defendants to resolve the dispute and reach a
settlement, the arbitration if initiated may last for two years before
reaching any conclusion.

The Board intends to take parallel actions to continue negotiation
with XALT and take the arbitration route at the same time. Having
said that, it is uncertain whether the Lawsuit will conclude in the
near future or to be concluded at all as it is not entirely within
the control of the Company. The Board would reiterate that the
Company had and will continue to use its best endeavours to
communicate with XALT to resolve the Lawsuit and seek legal
advice on the appropriate legal actions that may be taken on the
Lawsuit from time to time in the hope of resolving the parties’
dispute or settling the Lawsuit expeditiously.

The Board considers that, given the change in control of XALT,
the Auditor’s position on the Prepayment, the order by the US
District Court and the advice from the Company’s legal counsel,
the action plan as disclosed above is currently the only feasible
approach of the Company to urge XALT to go back to the
negotiation table and resolve the Lawsuit with the Group to
safeguard its interests.
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Audit Committee’s views on the Audit Qualification
and the Board’s position

The Audit Committee considers that the Company has provided
all available evidence to the Auditor of the Group’s making of
the prepayment to, and its receipt by, the recipient XALT suppliers
(whom and whose related parties are involved in the Lawsuit)
and, except for the uncertainty or possible effect of the matters
leading to the Auditor’s Qualified Opinion disclosed herein, the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial
year ended 31 December 2018 give a true and fair view of
the performance and financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018.

Having discussed with the Auditor and considered the factors
as set out in the basis for Qualified Opinion in the Independent
Auditor’s Report, the Audit Committee understood the basis of
the Qualified Opinion. The Audit Committee had considered,
reviewed and agreed with the Board's position on the Prepayment
and the action plan as disclosed above to remove the Audit
Quialification.

Auditor’s view on the action plan

Having considered the action plan proposed by the Company, the
Auditor is of the view that the Audit Qualification may be removed
in the foreseeable future subject to, among other things, (i) the
receipt of direct audit confirmation in relation to the Prepayment
from XALT; (i) the availability of evidence satisfactory to the
Auditor to verify the recoverability (or extent of recoverability)
of the Prepayment in the foreseeable future; (iii) any favourable
progress or outcome of the Lawsuit or the arbitration intended to
be initiated; and/or (iv) a constructive progress of discussion with
XALT on resolving all parties’ legal claims having been achieved.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

As disclosed in the Independent Auditor's Report, the Group
incurred a loss of HK$289,829,000 and operating cash out flow of
HK$301,132,000 for the Year. These conditions indicate a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern.
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Directors’ position on the material uncertainty related
to going concern

It has always been the Company's strategy to explore
opportunities with its business partners or potential investors to
enhance the Group's financial capability and flexibility for the
expansion of the business of the Group, including but not limited
to, further research and development of the electric vehicles and
the finance leasing business.

The Directors also consider from time to time all possible financial
alternatives to alleviate liquidity pressure and to improve the
financial position of the Group which include, but not limited to,
equity financing, debt financing, rights issue, open offer or bank
borrowings to meet the financial requirements of the Group.

Dr Yeung Yung, the chairman, an executive Director as well as the
major shareholder of the Company (the “Major Shareholder”),
who was and is beneficially interested in 2,741,211,189 shares in
the Company (representing approximately 13.47% of the issued
shares of the Company), has confirmed to the Company that he
will provide, or procure to provide, continuing financial support
to the Group to meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due. The Directors are confident that the Major Shareholder
has sufficient financial capacity and means to provide necessary
support to the Group. It is expected that any loan or financial
support from the Major Shareholder, if given, will be conducted
on normal commercial terms or better and not be secured by the
assets of the Group. If the Company receives any other form of
financial support from the Major Shareholder and the terms of
which are finalised, the Company will comply with the applicable
Listing Rules as and when appropriate.
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Further, the Group has been actively seeking collaboration
opportunities with potential business partners and investors
to finance the development and expansion of the business of
the Group. As at the date of this report, a number of business
partners and investors, including but not limited to, governmental
authorities in the PRC, manufacturers in the automobile industry
and institutional investors, had expressed interest in the business
or investment opportunities with the Group. It is expected that
these potential business partners and investors may establish joint
ventures or other form of alliance with the Group where (a) the
Group may contribute intangible assets, including but not limited
to certain intellectual property owned by the Group; and (b) the
potential business partners and investors may contribute working
capital to further develop the business of the Group. The Group
is close to consummate collaborations with certain potential
business partners and investors. The Company will comply
with the applicable Listing Rules if the terms of any potential
collaboration(s) are finalised with the Group.

Based on the above, the Directors consider that the Group will
have sufficient working capital for the operation and development
of its business for at least twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. With the development and expansion of
the Group's business, the Group’s overall financial position
will improve gradually. In view of the above and barring any
unforeseen circumstances, it is expected that the emphasis of
matter related to going concern of the Group will not be carried
forward to the Group's financial statements for the year ending 31
December 2019.

The Company will make further announcement(s) in relation to
any material development of the above matters as and when
appropriate in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Audit Committee’s view on the Directors’ position

The members of the Audit Committee confirmed that they
understood the emphasis of matter related to going concern of
the Group as expressed by the Auditor. They had considered and
agreed with the Directors’ position as set out above.
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Actual or potential impact on the Company’s financial
position

The Audit Committee and the Board will defer to the professional
views of the Auditor on the Audit Qualification from the audit
perspective as disclosed above.

Given that the recoverability of the Prepayment cannot be
ascertained during the Year, the Prepayment was therefore
recorded at its carrying amount of approximately HK$333,918,000
in the Group's financial statements as at 31 December 2017 and
2018.

As the dispute or Lawsuit with XALT was not in any substantive
stage, the Audit Committee and the Board were of the considered
views that the Company did not have sufficient information or
would not be reasonably practicable to foresee whether or not
contingent liabilities (if any) had arisen or will arise (or to estimate
accurately the possible extent, if any) or what the eventual
outcome of the Lawsuit may be. Accordingly, the completeness
of contingent liabilities in the Group's financial statements for the
years ended 31 December 2017 and 2018 cannot be ascertained.

Nonetheless, the Audit Committee and the Board are not aware of
any matters arising from the dispute or the Lawsuit with XALT that
might have a material adverse impact on the ordinary operations
or financial position of the Group.

Notwithstanding the emphasis of matters related to going concern
expressed by the Auditor, the Company is confident that the
Major Shareholder will provide continuing financial support to
the Group and the collaborations currently under negotiation are
expected to bring additional business opportunities and capital
for the expansion and development of the business of the Group.
The consolidated financial statements of the Group were and are
continued to be prepared on a going concern basis in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

If in the future the going concern assumption is no longer
appropriate and/or the outcome of the dispute or Lawsuit with
XALT is ascertained or resolved, adjustments may have to be made
to the consolidated financial statements to reflect the situation. In
addition, the Group may have to provide for further liabilities that
may arise.

The Company will keep its shareholders and potential investors
informed of any material development in relation to the business
operation of the Group, the recoverability of the Prepayment and/
or the dispute or the Lawsuit with XALT.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL

The GBS Disposal

On 16 July 2018, the Group entered into three several conditional
equity transfer agreements in relation to the disposal of its
entire interest in T EE B ERIREMR A A (Zhejiang
GBS Energy Co., Ltd.*) ("GBS") (representing an aggregate
of 25% of the entire equity interest of GBS) for a total
consideration of RMB88,614,062.38 (equivalent to approximately
HK$105,150,000) (the “GBS Disposal”). The GBS Disposal
constituted a very substantial disposal for the Company under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. The GBS Disposal was yet to be
completed as at the date of this report.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 16 July 2018
and 13 September 2018 and the Company’s circular dated 27
August 2018 for details.

The Dissolution of the EJV

On 18 October 2018, HK Battery Technology Inc. (“HKBT")
(a subsidiary of the Company) and Z#I KR (£E) KD AR
2 @] (Anhui Tiankang (Group) Co., Ltd.*)("Anhui Tiankang
Group”), being the joint venture partner to Anhui Tiankang HK
New Energy Technology Co., Ltd (Z &R R IEEFGERE AR
A E]) (the "EJV"), reached agreement and resolved to terminate
the EJV agreement dated 3 December 2016 entered into by
Anhui Tiankang Group and HKBT in relation to and governing the
establishment of the EJV and dissolve the EJV on a voluntary basis
(the “Dissolution”). The Dissolution constituted a discloseable
transaction for the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules. The Dissolution was completed on 30 October 2018.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 18 October
2018 for details.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have material
acquisition or disposal of assets during the Year and any future
plans for material investment or capital assets (other than the
existing projects (including research and development projects)
and those disclosed in this report).
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FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES AND USE OF
PROCEED DURING THE YEAR

During the Year, the Company has not undertaken any fund
raising activity.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES,
Capital structure and treasury policy

As at 31 December 2018, the total equity of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$1,239.0 million (31 December 2017:
HK$1,604.8 million).

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2018 measured
in terms of total liabilities divided by shareholders’ equity was
approximately 4.94% (31 December 2017: 3.85%).

As at 31 December 2018, net current assets of the Group were
approximately HK$552.0 million (31 December 2017: HK$857.0
million). The cash and cash equivalents amounted to HK$45.8
million (31 December 2017: HK$311.8 million). The Group did not
have outstanding borrowings (31 December 2017: Nil).

The Group adopts a conservative and balanced treasury policy in
cash and financial management. The Group’s cash is generally
placed as deposits mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
United States dollars or Renminbi. To manage liquidity risk,
the Group regularly reviews liquidity position to ensure that
the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
commitments can meet its funding requirements.

PLEDGE OF THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had pledged its bank
deposits of HK$2.0 million (31 December 2017: HK$2.0 million) to
the Group's bankers to secure general banking facilities granted to
the Group.
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F+-HA=+—H:857,000,000/&7C) - 3%
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2,000,000 L (ZE—+F+=A=+—
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EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES AND ANY RELATED HEDGES

Jlin

During the Year, almost all of the income and expenditure of the
Group were denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollar and/or
United States dollars. The Group had no significant exposure to
foreign exchange fluctuations and, therefore, had not taken any
financial instruments for hedging purpose.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

The Group had a total of approximately 228 employees as at
31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: 294 employees). It has
been the Group’s policy to ensure that the remuneration levels
of the Directors and its employees are reviewed and rewarded
on a performance-related basis within the general framework of
the Group's salary and bonus system. Share options may also be
granted to the Directors and employees of the Group to attract,
retain and incentivise them to work and make contribution
towards the long term growth and development of the Group.

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The audit committee of the Company had reviewed and discussed

with the management of the Company regarding the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial years is set out in the annual report on page
164. The summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this Directors’
report are:

Executive Directors:

Dr Yeung Yung (Chairman)

Mr Xu Jianguo (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr Hui Wing Sang, Wilson (Deputy Chairman)
Dr Huang Chunhua (Deputy Chairman)
Dr Wang Chuantao (Deputy Chairman)
Mr Liu Stephen Quan

Dr Zhu Shengliang

Mr Li Zhengshan

Mr Ting Kwok Kit, Johnny

Mr Chen Xiao

Non-executive Director:
Dr Xia Tingkang, Tim

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Dr Song Jian

Dr Zhu Guobin

Mr Cheng Tat Wa

Dr Li Jianyong

Mr Chan Sin Hang

Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

Jlin

As at 31 December 2018, so far as is known to any director(s) or
chief executive of the Company, the following parties (other than
the directors or chief executive of the Company) were recorded
in the register kept by the Company under section 336 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO"), or as otherwise notified to the Company, as
being directly or indirectly interested or deemed to be interested in
5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:

FERRRFLAFRFRZER

RZZE-NF+ZA=+—8 $tARFUEM
EFARZSTBRABMRA TIAL (TERE
ARPEERRDITHRAE) RARFS%HE
AEZBETERAPRERWERERAR
AIRIERE S LB GRY (BEAEMESTNE)
E336MEHETF 2 ERMARLE  HERTTHAE
ARB BRI EZER

Number
Name Capacity/Nature of interest of Shares Percentage
E1 V8 1] 57 #aHYE Bine B BoL
(Note 4)
(BisE4)
Sun East LLC Beneficial owner (Note 1) 2,673,071,189 13.13%
E=lEAA (W:E1)
Yeung Yung Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 2,673,071,189 13.13%
P&k 2 EEER (HR2)
Beneficial owner (Note 3) 68,140,000 0.34%
EmEAA (:E3)
2,741,211,189 13.47%
Notes: B 5T

1. Sun East LLC is owned as to 35% by Dr Yeung Yung (shared
commonly with his spouse under the laws of California, the US) and
65% by Mr Ma Manwai (alias Ma Manwai, Philip) and Mr Jimmy
Wang (alias Wang Jian) as co-trustees for certain trusts established
for the benefit of the children of Dr Yeung Yung on 30 December
2002. Dr Yeung Yung (as well as his spouse) was deemed to be
interested in these 2,673,071,189 Shares held by Sun East LLC
under Part XV of the SFO.

2. These 2,673,071,189 Shares are the same parcel of Shares held
by Sun East LLC in which Dr Yeung Yung (as well as his spouse) is
deemed interested under Part XV of the SFO.

3. These 68,140,000 Shares are directly held by Dr Yeung Yung, in
which his spouse is deemed interested under Part XV of the SFO.

4. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of
20,352,872,747 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2018 and does
not take into account any Shares which may fall to be allotted and
issued upon exercise of any subscription rights attaching to any
share options granted by the Company.

Save as disclosed above, no person, other than those Directors
whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions” below, had registered an
interest or short positions in the share capital or underlying shares
of the Company that was required to be recorded under Section
336 of SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of
the directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) as recorded in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) were as follow:

(1) Long positions in the ordinary share (each a
“Share”) of HK$0.10 each in the Company

Directors’ Report
ESEWHEE

EFRESTRARZHEHGR

R-ZE—NFE+-_A=+—HB AQRESE
FEEITHRABRA R B sk AT 88 %=
(E&AFEHMEEEGIEXVES) 2% 8
RO ESFTHEREES MAEEGE
3S2EARRAFE 2 ERMATEEE: B RE
EEBAERSHARAR ([BEHR])ESL
mARR ([ EWHRA ) WEx sl EmETA
ERETEFRINEETFRSITNE AR
AR R T 2 e A B I

(1) RAQXTEREEI10E TEER
(ZE—REBB]) 2FE

Name of Director

Number of Shares

Capacity/Nature of interest

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

ERERRE Biz&E S EaKHE BRiE&SHESH
(Note 1)
(FF3ET)
Yeung Yung 2,673,071,189 Interest of Controlled corporation
k= (Note 2)  SRPZEEIMEZ
(F3E2)
68,140,000 Beneficial owner
EmEEA
2,741,211,189 13.47%
(Note 3)
(PH3E3)
Xu Jianguo 30,000,000 Beneficial owner 0.15%
REH ExnEBA
Hui Wing Sang, Wilson 2,904,000 Beneficial owner 0.01%
K& EaEEA
Huang Chunhua 65,000,000 Beneficial owner 0.32%
HEE ExnEEA
Wang Chuantao 30,000,000 Beneficial owner 0.15%
TIE EaEEA
Liu Stephen Quan 281,760,000 Founder of trust
2% (Note 4) Interest of children under 18
(MisE4) 3Tl A
RIS F L =
10,000,000 Beneficial owner
ExnEEA
291,760,000 1.43%
EELEAERAT —Z—\FEHR —O O O— 33
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Name of Director Number of Shares

Capacity/Nature of interest

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

EENE Bi?®E S REH"E RiEEHESL
(Note 1)
(HE&E1)

Zhu Shengliang 22,043,883 Beneficial owner 0.11%

KBR EREBA

Li Zhengshan 26,270,000 Beneficial owner 0.13%

ZFIEW EREBA

Ting Kwok Kit, Johnny 3,000,000 Beneficial owner 0.015%

TEI# EREBA

Chen Xiao 25,000,000  Beneficial owner 0.12%

G E2HAA

Cheng Tat Wa 1,300,000  Beneficial owner 0.006%

Wi EREBA

Chan Sin Hang 500,000  Beneficial owner 0.002%

PR = EREBA

Notes: B EE -

(1) The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of 1) HRasER-_Z—NE+_A

20,352,872,747 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2018 and
did not take into account any Shares which may fall to be
allotted and issued upon exercise of any subscription rights
attaching to any share options granted by the Company.

(2)  These Shares are held by Sun East LLC. Sun East LLC is a (2)

limited liability company incorporated in California, the US,
which is owned as to (i) 35% by Dr Yeung Yung (shared
commonly with his spouse under the laws of California, the
UsS) and (i) 65% by Mr Ma Manwai (alias Ma Manwai, Philip)
and Mr Jimmy Wang (alias Wang Jian) as co-trustees for
certain trusts established for the benefit of the children of Dr
Yeung Yung on 30 December 2002. Dr Yeung Yung (as well
as his spouse) was deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by Sun East LLC by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

(3)  The spouse of Dr Yeung Yung is deemed to be interested in (3)
the Shares beneficially held by Dr Yeung Yung by virtue of
Part XV of the SFO.

(4)  These Shares were indirectly owned by certain trusts of which (4)
Mr Liu Stephen Quan were the founder. The children of
Mr Liu were eligible beneficiaries of the trusts. Mr Liu was
deemed to be interested in these Shares by virtue of Part XV
of the SFO.
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Interests in share options of the Company
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(2 RARTBREZER

.mn

Number of
underlying
Shares
subject to  Approximate
outstanding  percentage of
Name of Director Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price Options  shareholding
i RITHE
FRkiE
FRERZ 123085
EERB #HEH A fTEHR fIER #HHEERHKHE =F:1:4
(HK$) (Note)
(B7T) (BE)
Xu Jianguo 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 50,000,000 0.25%
G342 ZZ-MmE+—AZ+H 19 November 2024
Z-mET-AZTHE
“T-mE-FAR
Hui Wing Sang, 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 0.108 60,000,000
Wilson ZT-=FNAKH 5 September 2023
Fig 8 “Z-Z5AAREZE
“E-=FNAEA
20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 50,000,000
ZZ-MmE+—AZ+H 19 November 2024
Z-mET-AZTHE
“ZoWFE+—-ATNE
110,000,000 0.54%
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Number of
underlying
Shares
subjectto  Approximate
outstanding percentage of
Name of Director Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price Options  shareholding
A RITE
{2
RERZ R REE
EERE B A% AT ERR TR HREREAHE [=:1:4
(HK9) (Note)
(B) (MEE)
Huang Chunhua 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 50,000,000 0.25%
HEE —mE+—A=+H 19 November 2024
—NE+—-AZ+THE
_7_E¢+ A+hBE
Wang Chuantao 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 30,000,000 0.15%
& “E-PE+-AZtH 19 November 2024
—E+—HA=+HZ
_7_E¢+ AthBE
Liu Stephen Quan 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 0.108 10,000,000 0.05%
2R ZE-ZFNARA 5 September 2023
“Z-=§¥NARAE
ZZZ=FNARA
Zhu Shengliang 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 0.108 20,000,000
KBR ZE-ZFNARA 5 September 2023
“E-=FNARAZE
ZZZ=FNARA
20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 20,000,000
—mFE+—A=+H 19 November 2024
—mFE+-A=Z1+HZ
fjfﬂi+ At+hAE
40,000,000 0.20%
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s EwiREE
Number of
underlying
Shares
subjectto  Approximate
outstanding  percentage of
Name of Director Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price Options  shareholding
RETE
i {2
FRiSERZ BE#EH
EENR #iHAH AT {E R fTEE HRRHSE BSOS
(HKS) (Note)
(&) i3,
Li Zhengshan 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 0.108 20,000,000
FEW “E-=FNARA 5 September 2023
—T-=FNARAE
“Z-=FAAAA
20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 50,000,000
“T-WE+—AZFH 19 November 2024
“T-pmFE+—-A=Z+HZE
“T-MFE+—A+ANB
70,000,000 0.34%
Ting Kwok Kit, 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 0.108 32,000,000
Johnny ZE-=FfNARA 5 September 2023
T{%@ 77' _ﬁﬂﬂx\ﬁi
“ZZ=FNARA
20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 25,000,000
“E-NF+—A=1+H 19 November 2024
“EZ-ME+—-A-1+HZE
ZEZMEF—-ATAA
57,000,000 0.28%
Chen Xiao 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 50,000,000 0.25%
= “T-WE+—AZFH 19 November 2024
“T-pmFE+—-A=Z+HZE
—“T-MFE+—A+ANB
Xia Tingkang, Tim 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 0.108 10,000,000
BEREE ZT-=FNAKH 5 September 2023
—“T-=FNA BZE
“T-=FHAEH
20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 10,000,000
“T-WF+—AZFH 19 November 2024
—ME+—A=F+HZ
_7_E¢+ AThB
20,000,000 0.10%
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Number of
underlying
Shares
subjectto  Approximate
outstanding percentage of
Name of Director Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price Options  shareholding
HRTE
Mk
RERZ B
EERR BHAM AT{T{ERA R f1ERE HRERHHBE Bal
(HK9) (Note)
(B) (MEE)
Song Jian 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 0.108 10,000,000
PN ZE-=FNARH 5 September 2023
ZT-ZENARAE
—TZ=FHhARA
20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 10,000,000
—mE+—A=+H 19 November 2024
—NE+—-AZ+THE
_7_E¢+ At+NA
20,000,000 0.10%
Zhu Guobin 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 0.108 10,000,000
REDR ZE-ZFNARA 5 September 2023
“E-=§¥NARAZE
ZZZ=FNARA
20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 10,000,000
—mE+—A=+H 19 November 2024
—mFE+—-AZ+THE
_7_E¢+ At+hA
20,000,000 0.10%
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E = <= i& Vo i
Number of
underlying
Shares
subjectto  Approximate
outstanding  percentage of
Name of Director Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price Options  shareholding
A RITE
FRRE
IR 1243 5
EERE BHEH AT ERR fiER HHEERKBE =:1:4
(HKS) (Note)
(B7) (BE)
Cheng Tat Wa 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 5,000,000 0.02%
miEE “Z-WEF—AZ+H 19 November 2024
:K_IEI¢+ A-1+HZE
“RCWFE+—-A+TAR
Li Jianyong 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 0.108 10,000,000
FEB “E-=FNARA 5 September 2023
ZT-ZFNARAE
ZZZ=ENARA
20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 20,000,000
ZE-MF+—A=1+H 19 November 2024
:K_IEI¢+ A-1+HZE
“RCWFE+—-A+TAR
30,000,000 0.15%
Chan Sin Hang 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 0.201 4,500,000 0.02%
GEE —E-mE+—AZ+H 19 November 2024
—mE+-A=+AZ
letmetoAiad
Note: Bt
The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of BERESHER - N\F+_A=+—H

20,352,872,747 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2018.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company had or were deemed to have any
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December
2018.

= #1720,352,872, 747 D&t E -

BEXHEEEN R_FE-NF+_H
=t B BEARFAEEIRZSTHRAR
RARBREEMBEBEE (EEREFNM
HIERBISEXVER) 2 (EfAIRtn - AERERR D sk iE
F A AR ST A TR SRR
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Jlin

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Old
Scheme”) on 12 June 2003, which was expired on 11 June 2013.
The share option scheme currently in force was adopted on 13
June 2013 (the “Scheme”) pursuant to an ordinary resolution
passed by the shareholders of the Company at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 13 June 2013.

The following share options were outstanding during the period
from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018 (the “Period”):

FRBx RS

ARAR-BZ=ZFXAT _BARHN—IEE
PorgstEl ([Eat®])) B8N —F—=4F
NAT—REM -BRHAERBRESET
BRERARFRRR-_T-—=F"A+=AK
TZARRBERBFAG LBEBZ —HER
REBEN _ZE-=ZFXAT=ZHA&%M([&
#l)-

ATHRBRER -2 N\E—F-BZ=%
—NE+ZA=+— R (MR ]) kT
-

Share options
lapsed/
Name Asat Reclassification Share cancelled Share As at
Category of 1 January during Options during Options 31 December Date of Exercise Exercise
Participant 2018 the Period Granted the Period Exercised 2018 Grant Price Period
RIB-I\%F 4] BRE%Y/ BiTE  RIB-NF
SHENE /BRI -A—-H Efif% ERbERE HamnE BkE +-A=+-RB RHAH TR T
Director
g%
Xu Jianguo 50,000,000 - - - - 50,000,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
=L HiEEs WS Hizts
Hui Wing Sang, Wilson 27,000,000 - - (27,000,000) - - Note 1 Note 1 Note 1
APk fikal fiksdl isd
60,000,000 - - - - 60,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
fit3 fii3 ftis
50,000,000 - - - - 50,000,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
s %) Hizts
Huang Chunhua 50,000,000 - - - - 50,000,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
BEE Hits Hits Hits
Wang Chuantao 30,000,000 - - - - 30,000,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
TNE s Bits Hizts
Liu Stephen Quan 10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
A% M3 M3 M3
Zhu Shengliang 20,000,000 - - - - 20,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
RBR M3 M3 M3
20,000,000 - - - - 20,000,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
HiEEs MiEES s
Li Zhengshan 20,000,000 - - - - 20,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
W RE} M3 M3
50,000,000 - - - - 50,000,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
HiEs MiEES s
Ting Kwok Kit, Johnny 32,000,000 - - - - 32,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
TEIf% W3 M3 M3
25,000,000 - - - - 25,000,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
s %) Hizts
Chen Xiao 50,000,000 - - - - 50,000,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
R Hits WS Hits
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=_3 = 315
Share options
lapsed/
Name Asat  Reclassification Share cancelled Share As at
Category of 1 January during Options during Options 31 December Date of Exercise Exercise
Participant 2018 the Period Granted the Period Exercised 2018 Grant Price Period
RZE-I\E i) BREXN/ BiffE RZE-I\E
SRERSL/BH -R-H ENSR ERHBRE HRRERE WE# +ZA=+-8 RHEH 1R T
Xia Tingkang, Tim 10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
BER M3 W3 M3
10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
HizEs HiEs s
Song Jian 10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
g M3 MizE3 M3
10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
WS WS HiHs
Zhu Guobin 10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
RER M3 MizE3 M3
10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
Hi&Es HizEs &S
Cheng Tat Wa 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
bt MizEs HizEs i)
Li Jianyong 10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
FRE Wizt3 M3 frit3
20,000,000 - - - - 20,000,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
Hiis Miis Hias
Chan Sin Hang 4,500,000 - - - - 4,500,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
REE Wizts Hfits ftits
Sub Total: 593,500,000 - - (27,000,000) - 566,500,000
it
Employee
&
(in aggregate) 17,000,000 - - (2,000,000 (15,000,000) - Note 1 Note 1 Note 1
(A3 i ik=al fritt
104,500,000 - - - - 104,500,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
iz ] M3 T
278,000,000 - - - - 278,000,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
Mis HizEs &S
25,000,000 - - - - 25,000,000 Note 8 Note 8 Note 8
Hizts MizEs Hiz8
10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000 Note 9 Note 9 Note 9
Mo Wizt M9
Sub Total: 434,500,000 - - (2,000,000 (15,000,000) 417,500,000
ihit:
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Share options
lapsed/

Name Asat  Reclassification Share cancelled Share As at

Category of 1 January during Options during Options 31 December Date of Exercise Exercise

Participant 2018 the Period Granted the Period Exercised 2018 Grant Price Period

AZB-I\F il LES v B RIB-0\E

SHENE /B -A-H ENS¥ ERHiMER ENmRE WEE +-A=t+-8 R A iR s

Other eligible persons:

EtEERAL:

(in aggregate) 5,000,000 - - (5,000,000) - - Note 1 Note 1 Note 1

(A3t) M1 Mz i)

196,000,000 - - - = 196,000,000 Note 3 Note 3 Note 3
M3 M3 M3
21,000,000 - - - - 21,000,000 Note 4 Note 4 Note 4
BEL G fia
216,000,000 - - - - 216,000,000 Note 5 Note 5 Note 5
s ftits s
400,000,000 - - - - 400,000,000 Note 6 Note 6 Note 6
Hizte W6 Wiz6
200,000,000 - - - - 200,000,000 Note 7 Note 7 Note 7
MizE7 MizE7 2

Sub Total: 1,038,000,000 - - (5,000,000 - 1,033,000,000

IHE

Total: 2,066,000,000 - - (34,000,000 (15,000,000)  2,017,000,000

it

Notes: P aE

1. These share options were granted on 6 February 2008 and are 1. #ZZERER-_ZZN\EFE-ABHEL T
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.114 per share at any AR —_EENF_ANAE_ZT—NF_A
time during the period of 10 years from 6 February 2008 to 5 £E|Z1O¢HH i 1A 1 o] B ) #2 B RO 11478
February 2018. TLZRBEEITE

2. These share options were granted on 4 December 2012 and 2. #ZZEEBREAR-Z——F+-A/AmWAEHL-
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.12 per share at any time WAR—_E—hFE—A—HEZ-ZT_=
during the period of 8 years from 1 January 2015 to 3 December = A=H 2 8FEE AR EER0.12
2022. B2 RBETE

3. These share options were granted on 6 September 2013 and are 3. #ZEEBRER -_Z—=FhABHL I
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.108 per share at any ‘Jﬁf\fff:ﬁhﬂ/—\ag:g:ziﬂﬁ
time during the period of 10 years from 6 September 2013 to 5 ﬁ El 2 10%F BA T A3 £ fa] By ] 12 89 RO, 108738
September 2023. 2 RIEBITE

4.  These share options were granted on 29 July 2014 and are 4. ZEBRER_ZT—NFLA-+ILER
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.1136 per share at any B e —E— Eitﬁ —thHE=Z
time during the period of 10 years from 29 July 2014 to 28 July ZFEAE A=+ /)\B 2105 BifE R (] 5 fE
2024. REFRR0.11368 T 2 RBETTHE -

5. These share options were granted on 20 November 2014 and are 5. #ZEZERER-_ZT—NF+—-—A-+H#
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.201 per share at any B YR —E—NFE+—BF-+HE-Z
time during the period of 10 years from 20 November 2014 to 19 ZPFE+— A+ A 2105 B R AT 5 fE
November 2024. ZEIR0.201EB T2 REEITHE -

6.  These share options were granted on 14 July 2015 and are 6. ZEEREA-_Z—HAF+ATHAERLY

exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.395 per share at any
time during the period of 10 years from 14 July 2015 to 13 July
2025.

—0O O O— Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2018

YAR—E—AFEtA+THBEE-_ZE_HF
+t A+=ZB2Z10F B AT ERIRER
0395 L 2 REEITE -



These share options were granted on 29 November 2016 and are
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.24 per share during the
3-years validity period (validity period) from 29 November 2016 to
28 November 2019 in the manner as set out below:

. up to 50% of the total number of share options granted
(that is, 100,000,000 share options) will become exercisable,
if at any time during the validity period, the market
capitalization of the Company reaches HK$6,000,000,000 or
above;

. the remaining 50% (that is, 100,000,000 share options) of
the total number of share options will become exercisable,
if at any time during the validity period, the market
capitalization of the Company reaches HK$8,000,000,000 or
above.

All outstanding or unexercised share options granted shall lapse
on 28 November 2019 or the date of termination of the Investor
Relations Agreement, whichever is the earlier. Please refer to the
Company'’s announcement dated 29 November 2016 for details.

These share options were granted on 9 December 2016 and are
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.228 per share at any
time during the period of 10 years from 9 December 2016 to 08
December 2026.

These share options were granted on 20 January 2017 and are
exercisable at a subscription price of HK$0.1872 per share at any
time during the period of 10 years from 20 January 2017 to 19
January 2027.
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ZEFBRER T F+—A=-+hBE
o WA TS AR T — R F+—
A-thHZ2-Z—h&+—F=-+/\HZ
3EFARERIREI0. 24 T2 REBEITE

. EREHEREBEZZ50% (A
100,000,0001% & B # ) #% AT 1A (£
ERBERIMEM) AR MEE
6,000,000,00078 7T 8 LA EBF7T{E

. B 48 2062 ~50% (EN100,000,000
DEERRHE) #8 AT R (F278 R ER R fr] B
FE) AN /A 5] T 1 #£8,000,000,000% 7T
g A FEETTE o

A BTSN RITIE 2 B35 BB AE B 7
—E-AFT-AZ+N\BREREEEED
FRIEAH (UREEAE) KU -FHEEL
MARRIBHA=-Z—X "F+—A=1+NAH
/N

ZEERER-_ZT—AF+-ANBRH"
WAR—E—RF+_ALBE_ZET_RF
+=ANB Z10F BB R E A & EIZ SR
0.228 L 2 RIBETE -

ZEERERN T —tF—A=+HED-
WAR—FE—+tF—A=+HE-ZT_+F
— A+ B 2105 HE AT EE SR
0.18728 L 2 REBEITE -
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Jlin

The principal terms of the Scheme, which is currently in force, are  IREF B 2 5+ &1 2 T BIFHA MM T
briefly summarised below:

1) Purpose of the Scheme As incentives and rewards to eligible participants for their contribution or
potential contribution to the Group
SEZER EREERZEEHAEEELBRSOBE TR 2 BB & &R
2)  Participants of the Scheme a) any employee (whether full time or part time, including any

executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director) of
the Company, any of its subsidiaries, or any entity (the “Invested
Entity”) in which any member of the Group holds any equity
interest;

RRATF] - EAEIPT R A RIS AN SR BRI B AR A E kg2
EER ([RRERE]) ZEMES (ThaBeRE BEE
MMITESFETBIREMIERTES)

BE e

W
piis
D

b)  any non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors), any of the subsidiaries of the Company or any Invested
Entity;
RAREMMBRBSEMMIRE BT ERIFNTES (B
BYUIEHITESE)

c)  any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;
REBEBERKERRREMMKRE B 210G mL R HE
=18

d) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

AEBHEAMBREERZERNETE:

e)  any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity;
RAEBRERMMAREEBREMT BEIEMERM IR ZE
fAIALTHELRE:

f) any shareholder of any member of the Group other than the
Company or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities
issued by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
REEEMAE QR (RRFRIN SHERAREFR 2 EMR
R AEEEAKE AR EMMAREEBAETERNESRZ
(ERCIESEEWNE

g)  any advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; and
REBEMKERRISEAMIREE B 2 B EBERFEM
FEZ AR (T RAEFRIHMER) k@ERA R

h)  any other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of the
Group.

BRSECE EBBBIHMERRAMEL A EAEER
BRMEREHERNEEMARISKRR2EE -
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3)  Total number of Shares available ~ The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
for issue under the Scheme the exercise of all options (excluding such options which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Group) to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) of the Group must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the Shares in issue on the date of approval of the Scheme (the

"General Scheme Limit").

Subject to the rules of the Scheme, the Company may seek approval of
its shareholders in general meeting to refresh the General Scheme Limit
provided that the total number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the Group must not exceed 10% of
the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the refreshed limit. For
the purpose of calculating the refreshed limit, such options (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with the
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group) previously
granted under the Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Group will not be counted.

Upon the date of approval of the refreshment of the General Scheme
Limit (and, in the case of the Company, not exceeding 2,033,787,274
Shares (the “Refreshed General Scheme Limit"), representing 10% of
the total issued share capital of the Company as at 31 October 2017).

As at 31 December 2018, the number of Shares that remained available
for issue under the Refreshed General Scheme Limit was 2,033,787,274.

RIRET B A 31T R IR 10 A B ERIEET & AN BT B 88 TR B 2 BB O
BIERIBET 8 R A E (] B B IR RT B 2 R B Rz B i) &
M Al RERL B R BT 2 IR A A X T BBBHEFT S E BB 81T
f&1n210% ([—ie et 8 LR ) -

FEHBBAZART AAFATERERFEREAG L IESH—
SR IR - M CEAR A8 51 ) 7 S (] 2 A B ARHR B B0 45 TR 1
75 B PR T (2 11 0 B B B R BT 2 IR 3 M BN (3 AR B A G B 3
HIRE BB BTG 2 10% - A EEEH LRM S - AR B BR
o5 () £ A AR B L AR R AR (BB RIS AT B A
B (0 £ PR A B R 1T (5 - B0 - B R AT .2 AR AE) T
HEER-

RHEE IS — BB ERBHERAARIME - THi82,033,787,274
AP ([HREH—M B LR ) AR TN —_E—+F+A=+—
B2 BEBITHEIRAZ10% °

RZE—NF+_A=+—H RELET—RHE LR AT 31T
Z R e E &2,033,787,2744% -

4)  Maximum number of shares The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon the exercise
available for issue under of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
the Scheme Scheme (and any other share option scheme adopted by the Group) must

not in aggregate exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company in
issue from time to time.

RIBETEI A HEITZ Rat 8 (RAKBARA 2 EFM BB RETS) THEERE 2%
i &= 8 A EINERARTTRBAREETREIETZROKSEE X TEE

BARBTEDLETRAZ30% -
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5)  Maximum entitlement of each
participant under the Scheme
AEETER2REZRSRE

6)  The period within which the
shares must be taken up
under an option

& B R TR T A 2 BIIR

7)  The minimum period for
which an option must be
held before it can be exercised
BRER TIIERIARAZ
=52 HAf

8)  The amount payable on
application or acceptance of
the option and the period
within which payments or
calls must or may be made
or loans for such purposes
must be repaid

FRAE Sl B N R IR R R T 2
FRIE - DA KBSk A] ST A R IE B
1&%%5( RIF SR EER LB AL
B2 BfE

9)  The basis of determining the
exercise price

THREZEEEE

10) The remaining life of the Scheme

At & i BRF 1

In any 12-month period, shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue

REM+ @A ZHEAFERC BTRN21%

The Board may in its absolute discretion determine save that such period
shall not expire later than 10 years from the date of grant

EEgURYNBERAEZYR  EZHARTFERHE L AREF+
FRE™

Unless otherwise determined by the Board, no minimum period

BRIFEFEREET &AL EREHE

Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall inform the Company
together with HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant within 21 days
from the date of offer

REMBRER - FRABRBHEN BHEFG -+ —RAMEARAA
WZMVETERRERE

The exercise price is determined by the Board and being not less than the
highest of:
TERERAEFERELTABRRUAT=E2&S

a)  the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board lots of shares
on the date of offer for grant which must be a business day; or
BONRENDBE (BAREXER)BMI AT ARERMIIMET—
FREFROHEBERAZWTE: X

b)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board
lots of shares for the 5 business days immediately preceding the
date of offer for grant which must be a business day; or
BORBEEZHER(ARLEXR)AAESXABI AT AR
BRAGIHET—FREFRODEERR 2 FHRHE: 3

Q) the nominal value thereof

Betn 2 E1E

The Scheme remains in force until 12 June 2023

A —EAMEE_T_=FA+TBARILL
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which any Director or an entity
connected with a director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, no
Directors are considered to have interests in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the employer
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensations.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Company's business were entered into or existed
during the Year.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code of
conduct governing securities transactions by the Directors. All
Directors, after specific enquiries by the Company, had confirmed
to the Company their compliance with the required standards set
out in the Model Code during the Year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Turnover

The percentage of the Group's revenue (included continuing and
discontinued operations) attributable to the five largest customers
for the Year is as follows:

— The largest customer 70%
— The five largest customers in aggregate 100%

Purchases

The percentage of the Group's purchase (included continuing and
discontinued operations) attributable to the five largest suppliers
for the Year is as follows:

— The largest supplier 18%
— The five largest suppliers in aggregate 67%

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
associates or any shareholder of the Company (who to the
Directors’ knowledge was interested in or owned more than 5
per cent. of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in the
customers or suppliers referred to above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

None of the “Related Party Transactions” as disclosed in note 33
to the consolidated financial statements for the Year constituted
discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or non-
exempted continuing connected transaction under the Listing
Rules.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
and the Company during the Year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 85 and note 29 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, the Company's reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended), amounted to approximately
HKS$NIl (2017: HK$NI).

ANALYSIS OF BORROWINGS AND INTEREST
CAPITALISED

No borrowings was made and no interest was capitalised by the
Group during the Year.

SHARE CAPITAL

The number of issued ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the
Company as at 31 December 2018 was 20,352,872,747 (2017:
20,337,872,747).

Movements in share capital of the Company are shown in note 28
to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company may distribute dividends by way of cash or by
other means that the Board considers appropriate. Any proposed
distribution of dividends is subject to the discretion of the
Board and, where applicable, the approval of the Shareholders.
The Board will consider various factors before declaring or
recommending any payment of dividends which factors include
the results of operation of the business of the Group, the retained
earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each
of the members of the Group, the Group's actual and expected
financial performance, the general business conditions and
strategies, the Group's expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans, the general economic conditions
and business cycle of the Group’s business, the future prospects
of the business of the Group, shareholders’ interests, statutory
and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividend and other
internal or external factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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DIVIDENDS

Jlin

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final
dividend to shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2018 (2017: Nil).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company had maintained the prescribed level of public float as
required under the Listing Rules during the Year and up to the
date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS' INDEMNITIES

According to the Company’s bye-laws, each director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities (to the extent allowed by the
Companies Act, 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) which such
director may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the
director’s duties or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has
arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance
coverage for the directors and officers of the Group. Such
insurance to indemnify them against liabilities arising from the
execution of their duties was in force during the Year and remain
effective as at the date of the Directors’ report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The automotive industry is one of the most environmental aware
business sectors. To preserve the environment, the Group strives
to devise and adopt environmental friendly strategies, policies
and measures (through the concepts of reducing, re-using and re-
cycling) to achieve sustainable development, and is committed
to conducting its activities in a manner consistent with the above
determination.

These strategies, policies and measures include but not limited
to (i) using energy-efficient lighting and appliances, recycling of
office supplies and other materials in the workplace to the extent
practicable, (ii) working or partnering with renowned academics
and strategic business partners in the research and development
of both technologically advanced and energy saving auto-
components and materials (such as single and few-layer graphene,
battery materials, super batteries and electric control systems) for
the electric buses, new engine and other vehicles designed and/or
manufactured by the Group, (iii) setting up or using energy-saving
and technologically advanced establishments and facilities for the
manufacture of new energy products for auto-use, (iv) setting
criteria for the selection of our suppliers and manufacturers which
must be reliable, financially sound, environmental conscientious
and are keen to adopt sustainability measures in their business
and operation and (v) educating and reinforcing environmental
protection awareness among employees of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Board recognizes the importance of the Company to
act responsibly and due compliance with the laws, rules and
regulations applicable to the businesses operated by the Group.
The Group has employed suitable personnel and engaged
appropriate professional advisers to ensure that it stays abreast
with legislative changes and industry developments and its
operations are being run in line with the applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

During the Year, the Company had complied with, and the Board
is not aware of any violation of, the applicable laws, rules and
regulations that had a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group in any material respects.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Jlin

The Company is committed to upholding a positive image for
the Group and building trust and loyalty among its stakeholders,
employees, customers, suppliers and other business partners. The
Board considers that the Company has all along maintained good
relationships with its stakeholders, employees, key customers,
suppliers and other business partners, which are beneficial to the
long-term development of the Group.

CHANGE IN THE INFORMATION OF DIRECTOR

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, change in the
information of Director of the Company required to be disclosed is
shown as follow:

Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace resigned as an executive director of
Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited (a company whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange) with effect from 1 April 2019.
AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA LIMITED will retire at the conclusion of
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“AGM"), and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-
appoint ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA LIMITED as auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Yeung Yung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019

*  For identification purpose only
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board of directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) of
the Company (together with its subsidiaries, the “"Group”) is
committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
to ensure better transparency and protection of the overall
interests of the Company and its shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company wishes to
highlight that the Board will continue to devote efforts in
ensuring effective leadership and control of the Company and the
transparency and accountability of all operations.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2018 (the “Year”),
the Company had applied the principles and complied with
the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) set out in the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) except the following
deviation:

Code Provision E 1.2

Pursuant to code E 1.2 of the CG Code, the chairman of the
board should attend the annual general meeting and arrange
for the chairman of the audit, remuneration and nomination
committees (collectively the “Committees”) (as appropriate) or in
the absence of the chairman of such committees, another member
of the committee or failing this his duly appointed delegate, to be
available to answer questions at the annual general meeting. The
chairman of the independent board committee (if any) should be
available to answer questions at any general meeting to approve
a connected transaction or any transaction that is subject to
independent shareholders’ approval.

The chairman of the Board could not attend the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 1 June 2018 due to business
matters. Mr Ting Kwok Kit Johnny, being one of the executive
Directors and the delegate appointed by the chairman, attended
the AGM to ensure effective communication with the shareholders
of the Company..
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board

The Board is accountable to the shareholders of the Company
for leadership and control of the Company and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company and its
businesses by directing and supervising the Company's affairs. The
Board focuses on overall corporate strategies and policies with
emphasis on the business growth and financial performance of the
Group.

The Board has determined that certain matters such as strategic
planning, significant transactions, and budget should be retained
for the Board's approval. It has formalized the functions reserved
to the Board to achieve a clear division of responsibilities between
the Board and the senior management of the Group. The Board
has delegated its responsibilities to the senior management to deal
with day-to-day operations and reviewed those arrangements on
a periodic basis. The senior management has frequently reported
back to the Board and obtained prior approval before making
decisions for key matters or entering into any commitments on
behalf of the Company.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions of the Company with clear written terms
of reference. The Board had reviewed the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance, compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, training and continuous professional
development of its directors and senior management and this
corporate governance report in the discharge of its corporate
governance functions and to ensure compliance with the Listing
Rules.

In order to maximize the effectiveness of the Board and to
encourage active participation and contribution from Board
members, the Board has established three Committees (namely
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee) (the “Committee(s)”), each with
specific written terms of reference (which are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the Corporate Governance Code) to
assist in the execution of their duties. The terms of reference of
each of the Committees are reviewed and amended (if necessary)
from time to time, as are the Committees’ structure, duties and
composition so as to best suit the needs of, and foster corporate
governance excellence in, the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company Secretary and the external auditor engaged by the
Company shall attend the annual general meeting (the “AGM")
of the Company and, as far as possible, all other meetings of the
Board and the committees of the Board to answer questions and
advise on corporate governance, statutory compliance, accounting
and financial matters. The Company Secretary is an employee of
the Company and is appointed by the Board. All Directors have
access to the Company Secretary who is responsible for facilitating
the Board'’s processes, liaison among members of the Board and
the Group’s compliance with the continuing obligations under
the Listing Rules, the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share
Buy-backs, the Companies Ordinance, the Securities and Futures
Ordinance and other laws, rules and regulations applicable to the
Group. During the Year, the Company Secretary had undertaken at
least 15 hours of relevant professional training annually to update
his skills and knowledge.

All Directors are encouraged to propose and include items in the
agenda of each of the meetings of the Board and the Committees
for full discussion and deliberation. The Company Secretary is
delegated with the responsibility to prepare the agenda and,
where appropriate, take into account any matters proposed by any
Director/Committee member for inclusion in the agenda.

The Board meets regularly and at least four Board meetings are
scheduled annually at approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc
meetings are convened whenever necessary.

Due notice of Board meetings are given to or, depending on the
circumstances, urgency and/or importance of the matters, agreed
to be shortened or waived by all the Directors. Even though the
Directors often stay/travel in different time zones, they endeavour
to make themselves available for, and participate in the meetings
to the extent possible via teleconferencing mechanisms or other
electronic means.
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Minutes of the Board/Committee meetings are recorded in
details for the matters considered by the participants of such
meetings and decisions reached, including concerns raised by
Directors and/or dissenting views expressed. The meeting minutes
are circulated to the Directors or Committee members within a
reasonable period of time after the meetings are held and taken
as the true records of the proceedings of such meetings. They are
kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at
any reasonable time upon reasonable notice being served by any
Director. All Directors are entitled to have access to Board papers
and related materials at least 3 days before the intended date of
a Board or Board committee meeting unless there are restrictions
on disclosure due to legal and regulatory requirements or other
justifiable grounds.

Directors are provided with complete, adequate explanation and
information to enable them to make an informed decision or
assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects
and to discharge their duties and responsibilities on a timely basis.
To enable the Directors to properly discharge their duties, they are
given access to independent professional advisers, when necessary,
at the expense of the Company.

Whenever a member of the Board or member of a committee of
the Board has cause to believe that a matter to be voted upon
would involve him in a conflict or possible conflict of interest, he
is required to disclose the conflict of interest and is not allowed
to participate in the final deliberation or decision and will abstain
from voting on such matter.
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Attendance Records of Board/General Meetings

The Board had held six meetings during the year ended 31

December 2018.

Details of the attendance of individual Director at general
meetings (including annual general meeting) and Board meetings

during the Year are set out below:

Name of Member

Corporate Governance Report
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Number of general
meetings attended

ZEBEIIT

Number of Board
meetings attended

HEBEREX® HEEEESER
34-F .34 ZRE ZRE
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr Yeung Yung U= 172 4/6
Mr Xu Jianguo R E A 172 4/6
Mr Hui Wing Sang, Wilson KA A 2/2 5/6
Dr Huang Chunhua mEEWL 0/2 1/6
Dr Wang Chuantao FIIEEL 172 2/6
Mr Liu Stephen Quan BIRESE 2/2 1/6
Dr Zhu Shengliang KB RIEL 2/2 5/6
Mr Li Zhengshan FIELSEA 2/2 2/6
Mr Ting Kwok Kit, Johnny TEIfE - 2/2 6/6
Mr Chen Xiao PR % 55 £ 0/2 4/6
Non-executive Director HHITEE
Dr Xia Tingkang, Tim EEEE+ 212 4/6
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUIHHTEF
Dr Song Jian Rigig+ 212 4/6
Dr Zhu Guobin REIE 8+ 2/2 6/6
Mr Cheng Tat Wa IS A 12 6/6
Dr Li Jianyong FREERL 2/2 5/6
Mr Chan Sin Hang PREE A& 2/2 5/6
Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace TSR A 272 5/6
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Board composition

During the Year, the Board comprised the following members
(who remained in office as at 31 December 2018 unless otherwise
specified below):

Name

Executive Directors
Dr Yeung Yung (Chairman)
Mr Xu Jianguo (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr Hui Wing Sang, Wilson (Deputy Chairman)
Dr Huang Chunhua (Deputy Chairman)
Dr Wang Chuantao (Deputy Chairman)
Mr Liu Stephen Quan
Dr Zhu Shengliang
Mr Li Zhengshan
Mr Ting Kwok Kit, Johnny
Mr Chen Xiao

Non-executive Director
Dr Xia Tingkang, Tim

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Dr Song Jian
Dr Zhu Guobin
Mr Cheng Tat Wa
Dr Li Jianyong
Mr Chan Sin Hang
Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace

The biographies and other information of the current Directors
are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. There is no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship among the
Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report

Under bye-law 87(1) of the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-
laws"”), at each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three
(3)), then the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
the Directors are subject to the free and absolute choice of the
shareholders for re-election at the annual general meetings.
Whereas under bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition
to the existing Board should hold office until the next following
general meeting of the Company.

By virtue of Bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-laws, (1) Dr Huang Chunhua;
(2) Dr Wang Chuantao; (3) Mr Li Zhengshan; (4) Mr Cheng Tat Wa;
(5) Dr Li Jianyong; and (6) Mr Chan Sin Hang would retire. Each
of them, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “2019
AGM").

The skills and expertise among the existing Directors are well-
balanced with a mixture of core competencies in areas such
as accounting and finance, legal, business and management,
marketing strategies, business development, and scientific
backgrounds.

The independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) meet
the requirements of independence under the Listing Rules so that
there is a sufficient element of independence in the Board to
exercise independent judgments. The Board considers that all of
the INEDs are independent and the confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules had been obtained from
each of them as required by the Listing Rules.

The INEDs have the same duties of care and skill and fiduciary
duties as the executive Directors.
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The functions of INEDs include, but not limited to:

o participating in Board meetings to bring an independent
judgment to bear on issues of corporate strategy, corporate
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments
and standard of conducts;

o taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

o serving as member of and actively participating on matters
delegated by the Board to the committee(s) established by
the Board, if invited;

o attending general meetings of the Company and developing
a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders; and

o scrutinizing the Group's performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives and monitoring the reporting
of performance.

Chairman, Deputy Chairmen and CEO

As at 31 December 2018, the Chairman of the Company was Dr
Yeung Yung. The Deputy Chairmen of the Company were Mr Hui
Wing Sang, Wilson, Dr Huang Chunhua and Dr Wang Chuantao,
and the Chief Executive Officer ("CEOQ") of the Company was Mr.
Xu Jianguo.

The Chairman of the Company provides leadership to the Board so
that the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities
and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board
in a timely manner.

The Deputy Chairmen of the Company assist the Chairman of the
Company in carrying out his duties.

The position of CEO is vested with executive responsibilities
over the business directions and operational decisions of the
management and performance of the Group.

The Chairman of the Company also seeks to ensure that all

Directors are properly briefed on issues raised at Board meetings
and receive adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.
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Appointment, Re-election, Retirement and Removal

It is the Board’s responsibility to select and appoint individuals
with integrity, experience and calibre to act as directors of the
Company. The Board reviews the profiles of the candidates and
seek recommendations from the Nomination Committee of the
Board on the appointment, re-election, retirement and removal of
directors.

All Directors are subject to rotation at least once in every three
years as required by the Bye-laws. Each Director is briefed and
updated to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
operations and business of the Group and that he acquaints
himself with the common law duties and responsibilities of acting
as a director for a listed company and familiarise himself with the
applicable laws and regulations (including without limitation, the
Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance, the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, and the governance policies of the Company).

Each of the non-executive Directors (including INEDs) is appointed
for an initial term of not more than two years commencing from
his date of appointment and is renewable successively for a term
of one year until terminated by either party by giving not less than
one month'’s prior written notice to the other and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election by shareholders at annual
general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws. Every Director
shall ensure that he can contribute sufficient time and effort
to the corporate affairs of the Company once he accepts the
appointment.

Inside information

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to ensure
that unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

Committees

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee with specific terms
of reference (which are of no less exacting terms than those set
out in the Corporate Governance Code) to enable each of the
Committees to discharge its functions properly.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing financial
statements and internal control system of the Group. It also
provides advice on the financial and accounting policies of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors (namely Mr Cheng Tat Wa,
Mr Chan Sin Hang and Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace), and the
chairman of the Audit Committee as at the date of this report was
Mr Cheng Tat Wa.

Two meetings of the Audit Committee were held for the year
ended 31 December 2018. The individual attendance of each
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member is set out below: gl ZZDT
Number of
meetings attended
Name of Member BERR HESERH
Mr Cheng Tat Wa EiEER 4 22
Mr Chan Sin Hang REMLE 22
Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace TG E 212
During the Year, the Audit Committee performed the following B ZE€E R ARERZRNHNIT I TIE:

work:

o Reviewed with the management the Group’s annual and
interim results and draft consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017 and for the six
months ended 30 June 2018 respectively

o Reviewed with the management the Group’s financial
reporting and auditing matters, the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and their adequacy
and effectiveness

o Reviewed and discussed with independent external auditor
of the Company significant audit findings

o Reviewed the qualified audit opinion of the independent
external auditor on the Group's consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 and
assessed the position and views of the management of the
Group towards the qualified audit opinion and its impact or
possible impact on the financial position of the Group;
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o Recommended to the Board the re-appointment of
the independent external auditor of the Company for
shareholders’ approval

o Carried out such other duties as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code which included the review of the
independence and objectivity of the external auditor, the
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations,
as well as the terms of their engagement. The Audit
Committee was satisfied with the outcome of their
review, and the Board shared the same views of the Audit
Committee.

The Company Secretary keeps the minutes of the Audit
Committee. Draft and final versions have been sent to all members
of the Audit Committee within a reasonable time after the
meeting for their comments and records respectively.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
both the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements for the Year, which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group's results and cash flows for the year then ended and were
properly prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with the
applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility in the Independent Auditor’s
Report

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited (the “Auditor”), the independent
external auditor, has also stated its reporting responsibility in
the independent auditor’s report of the consolidated financial
statements for the Year.

Emphasis of Matters by the Auditor related to Going
Concern

Except for the emphasis of matters (Material Uncertainty Related
to Going Concern) expressed by the Auditor on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year as set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report, which is reproduced below, the
Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties which may
affect the Company’s business or cast significant doubt on the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern:
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“Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of HK$289,829,000
and operating cash out flow of HK$301,132,000 for the year ended 31
December 2018. These conditions indicate a material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going

concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.”

Directors’ Position on the Emphasis of Matters

It has always been the Company’s strategy to explore
opportunities with its business partners or potential investors to
enhance the Group’s financial capability and flexibility for the
expansion of the business of the Group, including but not limited
to, further research and development of the electric vehicles and
the finance leasing business.

The Directors also considers from time to time all possible financial
alternatives to alleviate liquidity pressure and to improve the
financial position of the Group which include, but not limited to,
equity financing, debt financing, rights issue, open offer or bank
borrowings to meet the financial requirements of the Group.

Dr Yeung Yung, the chairman, an executive Director as well as the
major shareholder of the Company (the “Major Shareholder”),
who was and is beneficially interested in 2,741,211,189 shares in
the Company (representing approximately 13.47% of the issued
shares of the Company), has confirmed to the Company that he
will provide, or procure to provide, continuing financial support
to the Group to meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due. The Directors are confident that the Major Shareholder
has sufficient financial capacity and means to provide necessary
support to the Group. It is expected that any loan or financial
support from the Major Shareholder, if given, will be conducted
on normal commercial terms or better and not be secured by the
assets of the Group. If the Company receives any other form of
financial support from the Major Shareholder and the terms of
which are finalised, the Company will comply with the applicable
Listing Rules as and when appropriate.
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Further, the Group has been actively seeking collaboration
opportunities with potential business partners and investors
which have expressed interest in investing in the business of
the Group. As at the date of this report, a number of business
partners and investors, including but not limited to, governmental
authorities in the PRC, manufacturers in the automobile industry
and institutional investors, had expressed interest in the business
or investment opportunities with the Group. It is expected that
these potential business partners and investors may establish joint
ventures or other form of alliance with the Group where (a) the
Group may contribute intangible assets, including but not limited
to certain intellectual property owned by the Group; and (b) the
potential business partners and investors may contribute working
capital to further develop the business of the Group. The Group
is close to consummate collaborations with certain potential
business partners and investors. The Company will comply
with the applicable Listing Rules if the terms of any potential
collaboration(s) are finalised with the Group.

Based on the above, the Directors consider that the Group will
have sufficient working capital for the operation and development
of its business for at least twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. With the development and expansion of
the Group's business, the Group’s overall financial position
will improve gradually. In view of the above and barring any
unforeseen circumstances, it is expected that the emphasis of
matters related to going concern of the Group will not be carried
forward to the Group's financial statements for the year ending 31
December 2019.

The Company will make further announcement(s) in relation to
any material development of the above matters as and when
appropriate in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Audit Committee’s view on the Directors’ position

The members of the Audit Committee confirmed that they
understood the emphasis of matter related to going concern of
the Group. They have considered and agreed with the Directors’
position as set out above.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

During the Year, the fees paid/payable to the external auditor in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the external
auditor of the Group were as follows:

ZEE B &

RAFEN  RAREINBZEEMIRE 2T
ZEEEZRE B, BN TINBZEET 2
BRAMT:

HK$

BT

Audit service ERRB 1,600,000
Non-audit services® FEEZIRIS 616,000
2,216,000

# The non-audit services mainly comprised review of interim financial ~ * FEZRBFEQEEMPHRUBER A

information, professional services in relation to possible transactions
and tax compliance services.

Internal Controls and Risk Management

The Board has overall responsibility for overseeing management
in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and
establishing procedures to enable the Group to identify, evaluate
and monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the systems in a
timely manner. During the Year, the Company had, together with
the senior management of the Group and the audit committee
of the Board, reviewed and evaluated the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and considered that they
were adequate and remained effective.

The risk management and internal control systems, including
a defined management structure with limits of authority, are
designed to help achieving business objectives, safeguarding
assets against unauthorised use, and maintaining proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use and for publication. The establishment
of such systems is designed to management the Group’s risks
within an acceptable risk profile, rather than to eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives of the Group, and can only
provide reasonable assurance but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, including financial, operational
and compliance controls as well as the process used to identify,
evaluate and manage significant risks faced by the Group. The
Board also reviews the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Group's
accounting and financial reporting functions.
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Internal Audit Function

The Group has conducted an annual review on whether there is a
need for an internal audit department. Given the Group'’s relatively
simple corporate and operation structure, as opposed to diverting
resources to establish a separate internal audit department, the
Board, supported by the Audit Committee, is directly responsible
for risk management and internal control systems of the Group
and for reviewing its effectiveness.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has set up the Remuneration Committee to
ensure that there are formal and transparent procedures for
formulating policies on the remuneration of the Directors and
senior management. As at 31 December 2018, the Remuneration
Committee comprised Dr Yeung Yung (an executive Director and
the Chairman of the Board) and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace and Mr Cheng
Tat Wa. Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace was the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee determined the
policy for the remuneration of executive Directors, assessed the
performance of the executive Directors and approved the terms
of their service contracts. The Remuneration Committee had also
made recommendations to the Board regarding the Company’s
remuneration policy and the formulation and review of the
remuneration package of all Directors and senior management
of the Group for determination by the Board and considered and
dealt with matters relating to appointment, retirement and re-
election of Directors.

No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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Details of the remuneration paid to members of the senior
management of the Group (including the Directors) by band for
the Year are set out below:

AEEXNTASESREEEXE (B
ER)NFMRBES D ZFBRINT

Number of senior

Remuneration band management
¥l & = BREERBAM
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 7T AT~ 7
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1,000,001 7C Z2,500,0007% 7T 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 2,500,001/ 7T £4,000,000/% 7T 8

HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,500,000
HK$5,500,001 to HK$7,000,000
HK$7,000,001 to HK$8,500,000

One meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held for the
year ended 31 December 2018. The individual attendance of each
member is set out below.

Name of Member

HRKSE

4,000,0017% 7C 25,500,000/ 7T -
5,500,001 7T 27,000,000/ 7T -
7,000,0017%8 7T £8,500,0007 7T -

HHEEBERBE-_T—N\FT-A=+—
AL EEART—REH-SREZHEE
#30T

Number of
meetings attended

HESRXE

Dr Yeung Yung MEEL
Mr Cheng Tat Wa BEERE
Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace FHINEE

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on both the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

Nomination Committee

The Company has a Nomination Committee to ensure that there
are fair and transparent procedures for the appointment, re-
election and removal of directors to the Board. As at 31 December
2018, the Nomination Committee comprised Mr Cheng Tat Wa
and Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace, both being independent non-
executive Directors, and Dr Yeung Yung, being the Chairman
of the Board and an executive Director. Dr Yeung Yung was the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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Nomination Policy and Procedures

To ensure the composition of the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business, the Company has, with
the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, adopted a
formal, considered and transparent procedure for the selection,
appointment and re-appointment (as the case may be) of
Directors. The criteria to be taken into account when considering
the suitability of a candidate, among other things, will be his or
her ability to:

(a)

bring an independent judgment and make constructive
recommendation on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of
conducts;

take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and/or the Nomination Committee and/or any
other Board committee(s), if invited;

devote sufficient time to the Board and/or any Committee(s)
on which he or she serves so as to allow them to benefit
from his or her skills, expertise, and varied backgrounds
and qualifications and diversity through attendance and
participation in the Board and/or Committee meetings;

scrutinize the Company’s performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting
of performance;

ensure the Committee(s) on which he or she serves to
perform its/their powers and functions conferred on it/them
by the Board; and

conform to any requirement, direction and regulation
that may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or
contained in the constitutional documents of the Company
or imposed by legislation or the Listing Rules, where
appropriate.
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If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director (INED), his or her independence shall be
assessed in accordance with, among other things, the factors
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any
amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange from time to
time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education,
qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated to consider
whether he or she has the appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise for filling
the office of an INED with such qualifications or expertise as
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee had nominated (a) Dr Huang
Chunhua (executive Director), (b) Dr Wang Chuantao (executive
Director), (c) Mr Li Zhengshan (executive Director), (d) Mr Cheng
Tat Wa (independent non-executive Director), (e) Dr Li Jianyong
(independent non-executive Director), (f) Mr Chan Sin Hang
(independent non-executive Director) to the Board for the Board
to make recommendation to the Shareholders for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (if
each of them is willing to offer himself for re-election upon his
retirement by rotation), having reviewed the composition of the
Board and having regard to the proposed re-elected Directors’
professional experience, skills, knowledge and/or length of service,
their commitment to their respective roles and functions, and their
respective contributions brought and to be brought to the Group.

On the re-appointment of the above independent non-executive
Directors, the Nomination Committee considered (and the Board
shared the same views), that at all times during the period of
directorship with the Company, each of them had properly
discharged his duties and responsibilities as an independent non-
executive Director and had made positive contribution to the
development to the Company through independent, constructive
and informed comments and participation at the business and
other affairs relating to the Group. The Nomination Committee
(as well as the Board) was satisfied with the independence of
these independent non-executive Directors, having regard to
the independence criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and the annual confirmation given by each of them to the
Company on his independence.

Mr Cheng Tat Wa, being one of the members of the Nomination
Committee, had abstained from voting at the meeting of the
Nomination Committee when his own nomination was being
considered.
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One meeting of the Nomination Committee was held for the year EEZZEEREHE-T—\F+_A=+—
ended 31 December 2018. The individual attendance of each HIFFEHBIT A EH SREZHEX
member is set out below: ol

Number of
Name of Member meetings attended
BEMNSE HEEHEXE
Dr Yeung Yung kS + 11
Mr Cheng Tat Wa BEIES A 11
Mr Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace TG A& 1/1
During the Year, the Nomination Committee carried out the RAFERN RELZEGELEARRZET

process of selecting and recommending to the Board candidates
for directorship with reference to the diversity policy of the
Company, including the candidate’s professional knowledge,
industry experience, personal ethics, integrity and skills, evaluated
the Board’s composition, assessed the independence of
independent non-executive Directors and recommended the re-
appointment of retiring Directors for shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming 2019 AGM.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available
on both the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Continuous Professional Development

During the Year, all Directors (as named under the paragraph
“Board composition” of this report) were provided by the
Company with materials (including but not limited to updates on
Listing Rules and guidelines on Directors’ Duties) to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The
Company also encouraged all Directors to participate from time to
time courses which they consider relevant at the expense of the
Company so as to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
for better fulfillment of their duties as directors of a listed issuer.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code"”) as its own code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors. All
Directors, after specific enquiries by the Company, confirmed to
the Company their compliance with the required standard set out
in the Model Code throughout the Year.

CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there were no changes in the Company's
constitutional documents.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS AND
COMMUNICATION

The Company is committed to (i) protecting the rights of
Shareholders and ensuring that each Shareholder is treated equally
and fairly; and (i) reinforcing the trust placed in the Company
by the Shareholders by remaining open and transparent, which
objective the Company believes is the hallmark of a high quality
company.

The Company attaches great importance to communication
with the Shareholders. A number of means are used to promote
greater understanding and dialogue with the Shareholders and the
investing public.

The means of access includes without limitation the despatch
to Shareholders and/or release by the Company of the various
corporate communication of the Company (such as interim and
annual reports, circulars, notices, financial reports, press releases
and other business information) via the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the
Company (http://hk1188.etnet.com.hk).
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Shareholders are encouraged by the Company to attend general
meetings of the Company where the Chairman of the Company
and other members of the Board and (if appropriate) the auditors
of the Company, are available to answer questions.

The following procedures are in place by which Shareholders may
(a) convene a special general meeting (the “SGM"”); (b) make
proposals at Shareholders’ meeting; and (c) send enquiries to the
Board to achieve the above purposes.

€)]

Procedures by which Shareholders can convene a
SGM

Pursuant to section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), a Shareholder or
Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company may
requisition the Directors to forthwith proceed duly to
convene a SGM by depositing a written requisition at the
registered office of the Company. Bye-law 58 of the Bye-
laws provides for this right as well.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting (including the resolutions to be considered at the
meeting), signed by the requisitionists, deposited at the
registered office of the Company at Canon’s Court, 22
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda and may consist
of several documents in like form each signed by one or
more requisitionists.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
SGM, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more
than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a SGM, but any SGM so convened shall
not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition.

A SGM so convened by the requisitionists shall be convened
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings are to be convened by the Directors.
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(b) Procedures for making proposals at Shareholders’

MUz A~ N

RS

meetings

Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act allow certain
Shareholder(s) to requisition the Company to move a
resolution at an annual general meeting (the “AGM") of the
Company or circulate a statement at any general meeting
of the Company. Under section 79 of the Companies Act,
at the expense of the requisitionists unless the Company
otherwise resolves, it shall be the duty of the Company on
the requisition in writing by such number of Shareholders:

(i)  to give to the Shareholders entitled to receive notice
of the next AGM notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
that meeting;

(i) to circulate to the Shareholders entitled to have notice
of any general meeting sent to them any statement
of not more than one thousand words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or
the business to be dealt with at that meeting;

(i)  the number of Shareholders necessary to make the
above-mentioned requisitions to the Company shall
be:

- either any number of Shareholders representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all the Shareholders having at the date
of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting
to which the requisition relates; or

- not less than one hundred Shareholders.

Notice of any such intended resolution shall be given, and
any such statement shall be circulated, to Shareholders
entitled to have notice of the meeting sent to them by
serving a copy of the resolution or statement on each such
Shareholder in any manner permitted for service of notice of
the meeting, and notice of any such resolution shall be given
to any other Shareholder by giving notice of the general
effect of the resolution in any manner permitted for giving
him notice of meeting of the Company, provided that the
copy shall be served, or notice of the effect of the resolution
shall be given, as the case may be, in the same manner
and, so far as practicable, at the same time as notice of the
meeting and, where it is not practicable for it to be served
or given at that time, it shall be served or given as soon as
practicable thereafter.
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Section 80 of the Companies Act sets out the conditions to
be met before the Company is bound to give any notice of
resolution or to circulate any statement. Pursuant to section
80 of the Companies Act, the Company shall not be bound
to give notice of any resolution or to circulate any statement
as mentioned above unless:

(i) a copy of the requisition signed by the requisitionists,
or two or more copies which between them contain
the signatures of all the requisitionists, is deposited at
the registered office of the Company:

- in the case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution, not less than six weeks before the
meeting; and

- in the case of any other requisition, not less than
one week before the meeting;

(i)  there is deposited or tendered with the requisition
a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expense in giving effect to the procedures regarding
the giving of notice of resolution and/or circulation of
statement,

Provided that if, after a copy of the requisition requiring
notice of a resolution has been deposited at the registered
office of the Company, an AGM is called for a date six
weeks or less after the copy has been deposited, the copy
though not deposited within the above-mentioned time
shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board
Shareholders are encouraged to communicate with the
Company for any enquiries in relation to the affairs of the
Group. Shareholders may contact the Company in writing or
by telephone or facsimile:

Address Principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong — Suites 1407-8, 14/F,
Great Eagle Centre, 23 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Telephone +(852) 2530 9218

Facsimile +(852) 2525 2002

Attention Board of Directors/Company Secretary
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MM o

ZHONGHUI
To the shareholders of Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hybrid
Kinetic Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 83
to 163, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor's Report

Basis for Qualified Opinion

Prepayment to a supplier

We were unable to obtain direct audit confirmation in relation
to the prepayment to a supplier and unable to obtain sufficient
evidence to ascertain that such prepayment to the supplier will
be recovered in the foreseeable future. We were therefore not
able to satisfy ourselves as to (i) whether the carrying amount
of the prepayment to a supplier amounted to approximately
HK$333,918,000 as at 31 December 2018 and the carrying
amount of the prepayment to a supplier amounted to
approximately HK$333,918,000 as at 31 December 2017 are
fairly stated; (ii) the recoverability of prepayment to a supplier of
approximately HK$333,918,000 as at 31 December 2018 and
the recoverability of prepayment to a supplier of approximately
HK$333,918,000 as at 31 December 2017; and (iii) the existence
and completeness of the disclosures of contingent liabilities in
relation to the prepayment to the supplier.

Any adjustments to the figures as described above might have
a consequential effect on the Group's financial performance for
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 and the financial
positions of the Group as at 31 December 2018 and 2017,
and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial
statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which mentions that the Group incurred a
loss of HK$289,829,000 and operating cash out flow of
HK$301,132,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018. These
conditions indicate a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matters described in the Basis
for Qualified Opinion and Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern section, we have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our
report.
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Independent Auditor's Report

Investment in associates
Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of investment in associates
for impairment. This impairment test is significant to our
audit because the balance of investment in associates of
HK$406,862,000 as at 31 December 2018 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group's
impairment test involves application of judgement and is
based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:
- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;
- Assessing the financial information of the associates;

- Obtaining and checking to evidence to support the
Group's impairment assessment;

- Assessing the competence, independence and integrity
of the external valuers engaged by client;

- Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting
with the external valuers to discuss and challenge
the valuation process, methodologies used and
market evidence to support significant judgments and
assumptions applied in the valuation model;

- Checking key assumptions and input data in the
valuation model to supporting evidence; and

- Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation
model.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for
investment in associates is supported by the available
evidence.
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18

SRVR 2 2R

(i) Trade and other receivables

Refer to Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of trade receivables and
prepayment, deposits and other receivables for impairment.
This impairment test is significant to our audit because
the balance of trade receivables and other receivables of
approximately HK$164,136,000 as at 31 December 2018
is material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group's impairment test involves application of
judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:
- Assessing the Group's procedures on granting credit/
loans limits and credit/loans periods to customers/

borrowers;

- Assessing the Group's relationship and transaction
history with the customers/borrowers;

- Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment;
- Assessing ageing of the debts;

- Assessing creditworthiness of the customers/
borrowers;

- Checking subsequent settlements from the customers/
borrowers;

- Assessing the value of the collateral for the debts; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group's exposure to
credit risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for trade
receivables and prepayment, deposits and other receivables
is supported by the available evidence.
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Independent Auditor's Report

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’'s report thereon. The other
information is expected to be made available to us after the date
of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

Responsibilities of Directors for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's
website at:

http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/standards/

auditing-assurance/auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fong Tak Ching

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number PO6353

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and O ner Comprenensive Income

Are Bm S E M I S

For the year ended 31 December 2018 %Zi_ - NFT+_A=1T—HIFE

2018 2017
—E—)\F —E—+F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
ihg=3 Ti#ET FHET
(Restated)
(K&E7)
Revenue e A 8 61,250 35,434
Cost of sales & KA (52,931) (26,012)
Gross profit ERH 8,319 9,422
Other income N 9 77,959 134,631
Distribution costs =17 %N (8,082) (5,971)
Administrative expenses T XX (365,437) (435,806)
Share of result of associates JEIGEt S N Al v 245 (2,570) (11,321)
Loss before tax FRIRBIES IR (289,811) (309,045)
Income tax expense FriSRiF X2 11 (18) (360)
Loss for the year TEEBR 12 (289,829) (309,405)
Other comprehensive Ht1 20 (Bi8) WA :
(loss)/income:
Items that will not be reclassified to T & & #7748 = /E
profit or loss: JZE A -
Fair value changes of equity WA EFAEMETE
investments at fair value through WA Z IR K% & ~
other comprehensive income N EE S (25,399) (10,578)
Items that may be reclassified to ~ FJEEF H A EE s
profit or loss: HH
Exchange differences on translating & /&M ¥ 7% 2 [E 5 =58
foreign operations — Group — K& (20,512) 51,461
Exchange differences on translating & /&5 ¥ 75 2 [E 3 =58
foreign operations — Associates S l/NE] (23,931) 6,597
(44,443) 58,058
Other comprehensive (loss)/ TEEHM2E (BR)
income for the year A (69,842) 47,480
Total comprehensive loss TEERXEGREHE
for the year (359,671) (261,925)
Loss for the year attributable to: Bl F A L RE{L A FEEEIE:
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZZ =N (288,571) (306,030)
Non-controlling interests JEITE AR M = (1,258) (3,375)
(289,829) (309,405)
Total comprehensive loss UTFTALEEXEE
for the year EEEREH:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company iNNETE PN (356,395) (260,743)
Non-controlling interests e (3,276) (1,182)
(359,671) (261,925)
Loss per share BREBGR 15
Basic (cents per share) AR (=R (1.42) (1.50)
Diluted (cents per share) BE (ZRRL) (1.42) (1.50)
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Gonsolidated Statement of

MR

Financial Position

/\\7.]_\
At 31 December 2018 R —ZE—N\FE+_-_A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —t4F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M5 TFHET FHET
(Restated)
(#eE5)
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment e N 16 58,102 70,638
Investment in associates E’\H‘y‘?%ﬂ AlZRE 17 406,862 547,494
Investments in joint venture NEEREIRE 18 22,772 -
Equity investments at fair value ?E’D\$1E FTAHMEEmEA
through other comprehensive ZRAIEE
income 19 38,423 66,225
Intangible assets mEE 20 62,555 -
Prepayments SCENE S 21 98,370 63,368
687,084 747,725
Current assets mEEE
Inventories FE 22 12,240 75,408
Finance lease receivables JE U Be & &3R8 = 1,753
Trade and other receivables JEWE S Ia R B 23 498,054 480,959
Derivative financial instrument TESRT A 24 55,018 46,957
Pledged bank deposits EHEIFEITIFR 2,007 2,007
Bank and cash balances R1T MR S5k 25 45,815 311,781
613,134 918,865
Current liabilities mEAERE
Trade and other payables ERESFEREMENR 26 61,170 61,827
61,170 61,827
Net current assets mENEERE 551,964 857,038
NET ASSETS BEPE 1,239,048 1,604,763
Capital and reserves BEER R
Share capital &N 28 2,035,287 2,033,787
Reserves f 29(a) (825,850) (466,244)
Equity attributable to owners of RARHE NEGER
the Company 1,209,437 1,567,543
Non-controlling interests IEVER S 29,611 37,220
TOTAL EQUITY Baen 1,239,048 1,604,763
The consolidated financial statements on pages 83 to 163 were ZE83E163H A MEHRERN T —NE
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directorson 29 ZA-+thBEE=SeitEREERE I
March 2019 and are signed on its behalf by: AU TATREEES
Approved by: BEDLT A THUE
Yeung Yung Ting Kwok Kit, Johnny
fome TE®
Director Director
EFE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Ghanges

;\\/ AN

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & =

et

II:—I N/
—~ . ingm
I s

IN

_\_

Equity

AE) R

—E\FTZASt-ALEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

EIAGE LN L
Equity

Share-based investment Non-

Share Share  Translation payment Other  revaluation Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total

Py BERE

Bx RRER AHEREE XHZRE  RREE  EGHEE  RHER @i FRRER #t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin TEr TEn Fhn Fhn Fin TEL TET TET Thr
At 1 January 2017, as previously reported 2,033,787 2,122,201 (81,564) 393,197 (23,901) - (2616381) 1827339 34079 1,861,418
Effect of changes in accounting policies (note 3) - - - - - (10,679) 10,679 - - -
At 1 January 2017, as restated —t%-F-A(E&3)) 2033787 2,122,201 (81,564) 393,197 (23,901) (10679)  (2,605702) 1,827,339 34,079 1,861,418
Recognition of equity settled share-based payment BRBETRAZHZTE - - - 947 - - - %7 - 947
Incorporation of a non-wholly owned subsidiary Ak 2 ENEAR - - - - - - - - 4323 4323
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year FEEREMA/ (FE) B8 - - 55,865 - - (10578)  (306,030) (260,743 (1,182) (261,929
At 31 December 2017, a restated RET—LFT-A=+-0(BE3) 2033787 2,122,001 (2569 3%, 23901) (1257 (91173D) 1,567,543 31200 1604763
At 1 January 2018, as restated RZE-\F-A—B (&3] 2,033,787 2,122,201 (25,699) 394,144 (23,901) (21,257)  (2911,732) 1,567,543 37,220 1,604,763
Share issued under share option schemes BEBRETEHEIRG 1,500 1,013 - (803) - - - 1,710 1,710
Expired of share options BRIREE| - - - (1,820) - - 1820 - - -
Purchase of non-controlling interests BEER - - - - - - - - (4,333) (4,333)
Disposal and dissolution of associates HERBHBERR - - (3421) - - - - (3.421) - (3421)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year TEERAMN/ (BR) 28 - - (42,425) - - (25399)  (288571)  (356,395) (3276)  (359,671)
At 31 December 2018 -Nf+=ZA=1-R 2035287 2123214 (71,545) 391,521 (23,901) (46,656)  (3,198,483) 1,209,437 29,611 1,239,048

EEREARLE —ZT-NFFH
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
,\\/T\/\E/Eui//w ?E

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE=—ZE— \F+=-A=+—HIFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT
(Restated)
(g&&E5))
Cash flows from operating activities EBEFHZHERE
Loss before tax R B S 1R (289,811) (309,045)
Adjustments for: HTIIEEEL 2 A%
Share of results of associates JEIGEE S N R XA 2,570 11,321
Equity settled share-based payment VAR 25 45 8 30 A
Bt X5 2 5R0R - 947
Interest income FEHBA (2,435) (7,309)
Depreciation e 29,433 21,949
Gain on capital contribution to M —EEE A aEE 2w
an associate - (77,861)
Gain on deemed disposal of REHER—HEE QR Z
partial investment in an associate o E 2 W = (2,765)
Recognition of deferred income on WRE—EBERARTEZ
capital contribution to associate EEHA (1,332) (1,828)
Fair value gain on derivative MTEeMEENFERE
financial instrument (8,616) (40,729)
Impairment of property, W - BB MEEHRE
plant and equipment 6,197 1,639
Reversal of impairment of H b e OB E R
other receivables - (1,837)
Loss on dissolution of an associate 8y G )Rl o g = 14,123 -
Gain on disposal of an associate & —fAREE A Ez s (62,411) -
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - HBER
plant and equipment Bl =] 4,997 531
Operating loss before EEECEYR KL BE
working capital changes (307,285) (404,987)
Change in inventories FEEE 59,763 28,208
Change in trade receivables JEWE B FRIAE (17,095) (28,109)
Change in other receivables, Hin ez 2 & &
deposits and prepayments T RES) (37,593) 400,202
Change in finance lease receivables JE W & 7R B s IE 1,753 15,040
Change in accruals and other payables FERT B PR R H A FE P R (657) 11,502
Cash (used in)/generated from operations “3& (FTH) Fii38HE & (301,114) 21,856
Tax paid [RENERE (18) (658)
Net cash (used in)/generated from EEEE (FRA) M\
operating activities BeRH (301,132) 21,198
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\EF ZE—+F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Cash flows from investing activities BEEZDFREHERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment &% %% « B = M & & (31,764) (14,839)
Interest received B U F B 2,435 7,309
Proceeds from disposal of an associate e —FEEE QRIS A 105,150 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BER
plant and equipment BY-RIESE/ e - 3,037
Capital injection to a subsidiary from FEE AR AR ER 7] — [
non-controlling shareholders MEAREE = 4,323
Payment to acquire an associate Ug B8 — R B & N | 2 3R - (432,288)
Capital injection to a joint venture M—EEERFETIE (22,772) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) BREEZBHMRE(FRA)
investing activities BesH 53,049 (432,458)
Cash flows from financing activities MEFHZHRERTE
Proceeds from share issued under RIR SRR B BT IR
share option schemes Fr 5 3k I8 1,710 -
Net cash generated from MEIDFRENREEEHE
financing activities 1,710 -
Net decrease in cash and BREeRBeSEMCRLVBE
cash equivalents (246,373) (411,260)
Cash and cash equivalents at RFEPVNz2RERIBFSEHEY
beginning of year 311,781 695,258
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate SN [EREB) 2 & (19,593) 27,783
Cash and cash equivalents at RERZHAERAEFHEY
end of year 45,815 311,781
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RE&RREFEBFEBMH
Bank and cash balances SR1T M IR & ek 45,815 311,781
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements
AT A IS ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ =T —\F+-_A=+T—HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited was incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited liability. The address
of its registered office is Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda. The address of its principal place
of business is Suites 1407-8, 14th Floor, Great Eagle Centre,
23 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company’s
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “"Group”) were development
of high-tech electric motor vehicles, development and
sales of battery management systems and spare parts and
development of advanced batteries materials. The principal
activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note
34 to the consolidated financial statements.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss of HK$289,829,000 and
operating cash out flow of HK$301,132,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2018. These conditions indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Therefore, the Group may be unable to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends
upon the financial support of the major shareholder, at a
level sufficient to finance the working capital requirements
of the Group. The major shareholder has agreed to provide
adequate funds for the Group to meet its liabilities as they
fall due. The directors are therefore of the opinion that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis. Should the Group be unable to
continue as a going concern, adjustments would have to be
made to the consolidated financial statements to adjust the
value of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets
and liabilities, respectively.

—0O O O— Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2018

1.

—REH

FTEEBEERAT A HMRBERED
ML 2 R 2B R A A o BT it ot
EEHIE ACanon’s Court, 22 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda - T &
TELAEMEY I AT B EEEE
235REE 1412 1407-8% « A AR
MRERBERFMARAT ([BE
FRl)FREM -

RRBRREERRF - AR RHEKM
BAR (i KRB 2 TEXBR
MEEMREDE HAEMHEEELE
BRELEREBEANLFELES BT
Ko ARRIMB AR 2 EBEBEHNER
B RRMI L34

HREERHE

HE-_ZT-N\F+-_A=+—8ItHF
€ - A& B E £ E518289,829,00078 T &
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants that are relevant to its operations and
effective for its accounting year beginning on 1 January
2018. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting Standards;
and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised
HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to the Group’s
accounting policies, presentation of the Group's financial
statements and amounts reported for the current year and
prior years except as stated below.

A. HKFRS 9 (2014) “Financial Instruments”

Available-for-sale investments are now classified
as equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE

3.
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MRt

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE=—ZE— \F+=-A=+—HIFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

A. HKFRS 9 (2014) “Financial Instruments”
(Continued)
HKFRS 9 (2014) has been applied retrospectively and
resulted in changes in the consolidated amounts
reported in the consolidated financial statements as

RINFAT R AE BT EEME
WMEEN (])

A BEBUBHREENFESE (=%
—mF) [EMIA] (&)
BEREWBREENFOR (=F
—HE)CEPER EEHREY
BRERMEBZEZEASEHIIA

follows: TR
31 December 1 January
2017 2017
—E—Ltf —Z—tf
+=B=+—H —HA—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Decrease in available-for-sale AHEERERD
investments (60,310) (72,188)
Increase in equity investments BAFEFARMEER
at fair value through other WA 2 [ AN 95 & 32 0
comprehensive income 66,225 72,188
Decrease in accumulated losses — RFTEER (26,474) (10,679)
Decrease in equity investment IR A& B FEER D
revaluation reserve 21,257 10,679
Increase in translation reserve b 5 R &I N 233
For the year ended BE-_ZT—tF
31 December 2017: TZA=T—HLEFE:
Decrease in losses for the year REZEERD 16,260
Increase in other comprehensive 7N 4F & E i 2 [H &5 18 42 A1
loss for the year (10,578)
Increase in exchange differences RE G INETS 2 [E H
on translating foreign EREEin-ArEE
operations — Group 233
Increase in Earnings cents GRREF (L)
per share 0.08

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has
already commenced an assessment of the impact of
these new HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state
whether these new HKFRSs would have a material
impact on its results of operations and financial
position.

—0O O O— Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2018

AEEY EERA D ERMERE KR
EMZFHRIBEMEmE LR
AEBECRBFGEZEHIER
MBMEERN 2 FE  HHEEF
PEHa B BEREE S
DY NEE 2 ELEE MBI
MELXERTE-



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention. as modified
by the equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and derivative financial instruments
which are carried at their fair values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors
to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the
current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities
that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements
AT A IS ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ =T —\F+-_A=+T—HILFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the
Company's share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement
of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN el

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EX®&HBE (&)

(Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in
their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to the owners of the Company.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity
but is not control or joint control over those policies. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible, including potential
voting rights held by other entities, are considered when
assessing whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes to
significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial
ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements
AT A IS ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ =T —\F+-_A=+T—HILFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(Continued)

Associates (Continued)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method and
is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities
of the associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as
goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying amount of
the investment and is tested for impairment together with
the investment at the end of each reporting period when
there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired.
Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and
its share of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is
recognised in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative
post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the
Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only
after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results
in a loss of significant influence represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in that
associate and (ii) the Group’s share of the net assets of
that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating to that
associate and any related accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve. If an investment in an associate becomes
an investment in a joint venture, the Group continues
to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the
retained interest.
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN el

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(Continued)

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two
or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control. Relevant activities are activities that significantly
affect the returns of the arrangement. When assessing
joint control, the Group considers its potential voting rights
as well as potential voting rights held by other parties, to
determine whether it has joint control. A potential voting
right is considered only if the holder has the practical ability
to exercise that right.

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint
venture. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a joint
arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control
of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement.

In relation to its interest in a joint operation, the Group
recognises in its consolidated financial statements, its assets,
including its share of any assets held jointly; its liabilities,
including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; its
revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising
from the joint operation; its share of the revenue from the
sale of the output by the joint operation; and its expenses,
including its share of any expenses incurred jointly, in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ =T —\F+-_A=+T—HILFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(Continued)

Joint arrangements (Continued)

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the joint venture in an acquisition are measured
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of
the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net
fair value of the joint venture's identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included
in the carrying amount of the investment and is tested for
impairment together with the investment at the end of each
reporting period when there is objective evidence that the
investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss.

The Group’s share of a joint venture's post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss,
and its share of the post-acquisition movements in reserves
is recognised in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative
post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share
of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in
the joint venture, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint
venture. If the joint venture subsequently reports profits, the
Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only
after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ARE ISR MR
For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BEXSHHBE (1)
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values
in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE=—ZE— \F+=-A=+—HIFE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXE:HBE ()

(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company's presentation currency are translated
into the Company'’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN el

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their costs less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
The principal useful lives are as follows:

Leasehold improvements,
fixtures and fittings

Over the expected useful lives
of 5 to 10 years or over the
term of lease, whichever is
shorter

Furniture and equipment 5 years

Machineries 51to 10 years

Motor vehicles 4 to 10 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and machinery pending installation,
and is stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation
begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MRt

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE=—ZE— \F+=-A=+—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(Continued)

Lease

The Group as lessee

(i) Operating leases
Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group
all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Lease payments
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

The Group as lessor

(i)  Finance leases
Leases that substantially transfer to the lessees all
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as finance leases. Amounts due
from lessees under finance leases are recognised
as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is
allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a
constant periodic rate of return on the Group's net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. An internally
generated intangible asset arising from the Group's
development is recognised only if all of the following
conditions are met:

- An asset is created that can be identified (such as
software and new processes);

- It is probable that the asset created will generate
future economic benefits; and

- The development cost of the asset can be measured
reliably.
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN el

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(Continued)

Intangible assets

Technical knowhow are classified as intangible assets.
Technical knowhow have an indefinite useful life and are
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The
technical knowhow have no foreseeable limit to the period
over which the Group can use to generate net cash flows.
The technical knowhow will not be amortised until their
useful lives are determined to be finite. Instead they will be
tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.

The useful life of the technical knowhow is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is account for on a
prospective basis.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion
of all production overhead expenditure, and where
appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ =T —\F+-_A=+T—HILFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at
fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost;

- Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income; and

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of
the following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less loss allowance
for expected credit losses.
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN el

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. BEXSHHBE (1)
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

On initial recognition, the Group can make an
irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument
basis) to designate investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading as at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are subsequently measured at
fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in
fair values recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the equity investment revaluation
reserve. On derecognition of an investment, the
cumulative gains or losses previously accumulated
in the equity investment revaluation reserve are not
reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in
profit or loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost and lease
receivables. Expected credit losses are the weighted average
of credit losses with the respective risks of a default
occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of that
financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”)
for trade receivables and lease receivables, or if the credit
risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 =%
4.

(Continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses
(Continued)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on
a financial instrument (other than trade receivables and
lease receivables) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion of
lifetime expected credit losses that represents the expected
credit losses that result from default events on that financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives (including contingent considerations under
business combinations) are initially recognised and
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or losses
arising from changes in fair values recognised in profit or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to
an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements
T A R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 =%
4.

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time
if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

- the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the product or service.

Other income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements
T A R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE

(Continued)

Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the at
the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(b) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged in profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(c) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Share-based payments
The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain directors, employees and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of the equity
instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually
vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions.
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or if
the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably
measured, at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group
receives the services and is recognised as an expense.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and its joint ventures, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(Continued)

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the

Group.

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(i)

(iif)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if
any of the following conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EX®&HBE (&)

(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if
any of the following conditions applies: (Continued)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group’s
various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
productions processes, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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4.

(Continued)

Impairment of assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not yet
available for use are reviewed annually for impairment and
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets other
than investments, inventories and receivables, to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and
are reflected in the financial statements. Events after the
reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.
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5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5.

ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,
which are dealt with below).

(a) Going concern basis
These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of
which depends upon the financial support of the
major shareholder at a level sufficient to finance the
working capital requirements of the Group. Details are
explained in note 2 to financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(@) Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and
doubtful debts based on assessments of the
recoverability of the trade and other receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise
where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be collectible. The
identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual
result is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of the trade
and other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in
the year in which such estimate has been changed.
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EEFIER ERME ()

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5.

ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

(@

Impairment of investment in associates

Interest in associates are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
Value-in-use calculations are used for assessing
the recoverable amount of these interests. These
calculations require use of judgments and estimates.

Management judgment is required for assessing
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an
event has occurred that may indicate that the related
carrying value of interests may not be recoverable;
and (ii) whether the carrying value of the interests can
be supported by the recoverable amount. Changing
the estimations used by management in assessing
impairment could materially affect the recoverable
amount used in the impairment test and as a result
affect the Group's consolidated financial position and
consolidated results of operations. At the end of the
reporting period, the carrying value of investment in
an associates were approximately HK$406,862,000
(2017: HK$547,494,000).

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
The Group determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for
the Group's property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the
actual useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
The Group will revise the depreciation charge where
useful lives and residual values are different to those
previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5.

ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is determined with reference
to the present value of estimated future cash flows.
Where the future cash flows are less than expected or
there are unfavourable events and change in facts and
circumstance which result in revision of future estimate
cash flows, a material impairment loss may arise.

(e) Impairment of intangible assets

The management of the Company assesses the
possible impairment of the Group’s intangible assets
at end of each reporting period. At the end of the
reporting period, the carrying value of intangible
assets was approximately HK$62,555,000 at the end
of the reporting date. The Group is confident that
the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered
in full. This situation will be closely monitored,
and adjustments made in future periods, if future
market activity indicates that such adjustments are
appropriate.

(f)  Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based
on the ageing and estimated net realisable value of
inventories. The assessment of the allowance amount
involves judgement and estimates. Where the actual
outcome in future is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value
of inventories and allowance charge/write-back in the
period in which such estimate has been changed.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group's overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance.

(@)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the Hong Kong dollars and United States
dollars and Renminbi. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities.
The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

The functional currency of certain major subsidiaries
of the Group is RMB. The Group is mainly exposed to
currency risk between RMB and USD.

At 31 December 2018, if the RMB had weakened 5
per cent (2017: 5 per cent) against the US dollar with
all other variables held constant, consolidated loss
after tax for the year would have been HK$856,000
(2017: HK$6,281,000) higher, arising mainly as a
result of the foreign exchange loss on monetary
items denominated in US dollar. If the RMB had
strengthened 5 per cent (2017: 5 per cent) against
the US dollar with all other variables held constant,
consolidated loss after tax for the year would have
been HK$856,000 (2017: HK$6,281,000) lower,
arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gain
on monetary items denominated in US dollar.
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F:6,281,00087L) r EERFA
EFMBECESIEE 2 IMNERE
MEE -MAREEET EFA5%
TE—+F:5%) MATE Ef
AEREEHTE BIAEE 2B
Hiigir & BHERR 856,000/ T

T — 4 : 6,281,000/ 7T )
FTERAMNETEZEKIEE
2 INEU S T E A -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ARE SRR M
For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ =T —\F+-_A=+T—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HMEREEE (iF)
(Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The carrying amount of the cash and bank balances,
trade and other receivables, investments and derivative
financial instruments included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the
Group's financial assets.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are
made to customers with an appropriate credit history.
The credit risk on bank and cash balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit-
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies

The Group considers whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of financial assets on
an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period
by comparing the risk of a default occurring as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially
the following information is used:

- internal credit rating;

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

- significant changes in the value of the collateral
or in the quality of guarantees or credit
enhancements; and

- significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the borrower, including
changes in the payment status of borrowers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment. A default on a financial asset
is when the counterparty fails to make contractual
payments within 60 days of when they fall due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ra B AR M R
For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. MERIEERE (&)
(Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERMR (&)

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.
The Group normally categorises a loan or receivable
for write off when a debtor fails to make contractual
payments greater than 360 days past due. Where
loans or receivables have been written off, the Group,
if practicable and economical, continues to engage
in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the
receivable due.

The Group uses two categories for non-trade loan
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how
the loan loss provision is determined for each of the
categories. In calculating the expected credit loss
rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each
category and adjusts for forward looking data.

BENEZAERE (FIEnEHA
RBEEA SR BRI ERETE) B -
AEEEMHSREE - ANRE—
RRIMETS A B B E360 KR AL
TEH A KN REF - 1§ BRI
5 AMUEH AR - N E RSB UGRE #
o RIAKEENER RS LA
T2 1B T BT R BIBITIE
B B0 Um0 B HA UK

AEBFEAMBFESRKE
B A RIRRE IR 2 EERR
Ko gnfa] & K8 Bl BE E B R RS 1R A
e R ERREEBEBERRE K
SEeERERAZELERE
I L AT IR M BUREH AR -

Category Definition Loss provision B E® BRER

Performing Low risk of default 12 month expected Bih 2HEBRER 1218 A 78 5
and strong capacityto  losses ARENR BiB
pay

Non-performing ~ Significant increase in ~ Lifetime expected TEL EERR 2 HEN
credit risk losses BELT g
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MRt

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE=—ZE— \F+=-A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. HMEREEE (iF)
(Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) FERK (&)
Total
ot
2018 2017
—2—N% —2—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Other loans receivables HElER 94,816 94,816
Provision for loss allowance E B E IR RS (77,710) (77,710)
Carrying amounts BREeE 17,106 17,106
Expected credit loss rate TEEEEEEE
2018 —E-)N\F 82%
2017 —E—tF 82%
Loss allowance at RZE—+F
1 January 2017 —A—RZEBEHE (79,547)
Decrease in provision in 2017 R-ZT—tEF 2 BERD 1,837
Loss allowance at RZZE—+EF R
31 December 2017 :%ﬁ AN:S
and 2018 +ZA=+—H2
BREAHE (77,710)
(¢) Liquidity risk (0 "BEZRMR
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current REBBEAEHETREINR
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that TEHRESESHE  BREFEH
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its el BNEBREREERBZR
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. HEeHEE-
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018 H = - %

NN el

—N\E+ZA=+—HLHFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. MERBER (1)

(Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (0 REBEZLRAM (&)
The maturity analysis of the Group's financial liabilities rEEsRABRZINHBERDN
is as follows: mr:
Total
contractual
undiscounted
Carrying cash flow
amount within 1 year
—FRZEH
*ERB &
REE# RERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
At 31 December 2018 BRIE—N\F
+=-—RA=+—8H
Trade and other payables JEE S FIER
Hth & 5 5K 61,170 61,170
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F
+=—A=+—8H
Trade and other payables BB SFIER
H At & 5 5K 61,827 61,827
(d) Interest rate risk (d) FIZEEpx
At 31 December 2018, as the Group has minimal RZE—-—N\F+_A=+—H" 8
exposure to interest rate risk, the Group's operating PN S [ T 9 2 1) 2 3 g AR (K -
cash flows are substantially independent of changes in WAEE EEReRAN LE
market interest rates. MRS FI RS-
(e) Fair values (e) ~A¥E

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

fRE IR P R R AR [ 2
TRHEELERABEIRATER

/\EZ SHBEEBAZA

NHERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MRt

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE=—ZE— \F+=-A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.
(Continued)

(f) Categories of financial instruments at 31

MBEREER ()

) R+=ZA=+—HBzEMTA

December 5l
2018 2017
—E—)\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(Restated)
(#eE5)
Financial assets EMEE
Derivative financial instrument EHFFEZTESRTE
Mandatorily measured 55,018 46,957
Financial assets at amortised REENAFTE
cost (including cash and cash TREE (BERER
equivalents) REZED) 80,612 423,114
Equity investments at fair value BAVEGARMEE
through other comprehensive WA 2 BRI &
income 38,423 66,225
Financial liabilities EREE
Financial liabilities at BEEKAFTE S
amortised cost TRBaE 61,170 61,827
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7. AF{ERE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categories into three levels the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and

transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements
T A R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7.

(Continued)

(a

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31

AFEEHE ()

(@ WZE—N\F+=—A=+—HZ

December 2018: NEBEERFEE:
Fair value measurements using: Total
ERUTHEBCAFEHAE: g
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2018
F—# :Jomt BZH —B-N\F
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET THT FTET THT
Description i
Recurring fair value RERLTEME:
measurements:
Equity investments at fair value BATFEGAEMEE
through other comprehensive WAZBRABE
income
— Listed securities in PRC —HE EWES - 15,427 - 15,427
- Unlisted equity securities —ELTRAES - - 22,99 22,996
- 15,427 22,996 38,423
Derivative financial instrument THEEmIA
— Profits quaranteed —mAIRE L
arrangement - - 55,018 55,018
Total recurring fair value BERLATENERE
measurements - 15,427 78,014 93,441
Fair value measurements using: Total
FRANTEE 2 ATFETE: B
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2017
E—& E_® B —T—+#F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT TET THT
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(= E5) (& E5) (& E5) (e &5)
Description i
Recurring fair value RERLTEMHE:
measurements:
Equity investments at fair value BATEGAEMEE
through other comprehensive WAZBRAFRE
income
— Listed securities in PRC —HE ETES - 14,688 - 14,688
— Unlisted equity securities —FFTRAES - - 51,537 51,537
- 14,688 51,537 66,225
Derivative financial instrument T eRIA
~ Profits quaranteed —RMRE L
arrangement - - 46,957 46,957
Total recurring fair value BERLATENERE
measurements - 14,688 98,494 113,182
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

IN=RUEVENEaYi NS

For the year ended 31 December 2018 =%
7.

A

—N\F+ZA=t—HLFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7. 2F{EHE (&)
(Continued)
(@) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 (a) ﬁ’\:; NF+—_A=+—82

December 2018: (Continued)

During the period, there were no transfer between
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3
(2017: Nil). The Group's policy is to recognise transfer
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of
the reporting period in which they occur.

Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based (b)

on level 2 and 3:

NP ERRRKE: (&)

B E—REE A7 R Ee
B EEESREAREY (=
Tt ) AREIRER
REEE 2 R R RER
ATEERE 8-
ERE-R=MZ EEATE
SHE:

Derivative financial

instrument
TE&mTR
2018 2017
—E-)N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
(Restated)
€<=x1lp)
Description ik
At 1 January “w—HA—H 46,957 4,260
Total losses recognised in RERIBEERZ
consolidated profit or loss(#) E5 18 4E EE (#) 8,616 40,729
Exchange difference fEH =% (555) 1,968
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 55,018 46,957
#) Include gains for assets held at ~ (#)B FE R & HAK Fr#H
end of reporting period BE W 8,616 40,729
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

an\

B IR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—ZFT— \F+=-A=+—HILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7.

(Continued)

(b)  Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based
on level 2 and 3: (Continued)

AFEEHE ()

b) ERFE-_N=FKZ2EERTFET
EHK: (&)

Equity investments at
fair value through other
comprehensive income

BRAOFEA
Hth2EKAZBRFRE
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —T—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Description §itj ikt
At 1 January m—H—H 66,225 72,188
Total gains recognised in other RE M2 AR
comprehensive income Z Uz sasE (25,399) (10,578)
Exchange difference &R =% (2,403) 4,615
At 31 December R+—-—HA=+—H 38,423 66,225

The total gains or losses recognised in other
comprehensive income are presented in investment
valuation gain in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss
including those for assets held at end of reporting
period are presented in other income in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

REMZERARER 2 Wk
?éﬁ'%’EEM eRmMEMEEE
mARZREBEREZS

KBS ER W sk ERER (8
ERBEMRAFEEZ WaE K
BR)REa RS MM 2 E RS
KPP ZEMBPAZT

EEREERLT —2- 558 —O O O—

125



126
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sre SRR MRt

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE=—ZE— \F+=-A=+—HIFE

7. DFEEE (&)

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2018:

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will
normally engage external valuation experts with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent
experience to perform the valuations.

Key unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value
measurements are mainly:

Level 2 fair value measurements

(0

REBEMAGERIEARNR-E
—NE+ZB=+—BATEH
2 FTF A E BT R A BUR 2
5= .

AEE-REZEABRAFE
B R B E R 5 2 SN (E
EFXETE=ARFEAEZML
Ao

B=HAFEHERAZEET
UHEGAMBEES

BoRNFEIE

Fair value
Description Valuation technique Inputs 2018
—Z-N\F
it fHER WABRE LFE
HK$'000
T
Listed securities in PRC Market approach similar companies are trading in 15,427
a public market
HE LTS mi5E REMHEES ZEUR
Fair value
Description Valuation technique Inputs 2017
—E2—+tF
it ri-t:30] WABE DFEE
HK$'000
TR
Listed securities in PRC Market approach similar companies are trading in 14,688
a public market
B FTEE S mi5E RARTISER ZBUAR
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NN el

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & =
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7.

(Continued)

(0

i

NE+Z_RA=+—RHILFE

AFEEHE ()

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (© FEBFMAGEAREUER_-F

and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements at 31 December 2018: (Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements

—N\FT+ZA=+—HRAFE

BTG ERMN R AR 2
B (&|)

E=RATEHE

Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value Fair value
Description technique inputs Range for increase of inputs 2018
BABEAMS 2-0\g
i HERH TURRBARE &E LFEZRE QF[E
HK$'000
ThEL
Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
BRAFEHARMRERAZRFRE
Unlisted equity securities ~ Market approach Market Capitalisation  Market Capitalization of Decrease 22,996
- Guideline Publicly- Multiples Common Stock from
traded Comparable CNY1,870 to CNY5,712
Method
¥ EMBRAES ik HERE LRRHENT b
-KBEAREE ARE18701E
ARBRNAE AR5, 1127t
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
BRAFEHARRCRE
Profits quaranteed Discounted payoff with Credit discount rate  Discount rate make reference to  Increase 55,018
arrangement scenarios comparable bond yields
RRRELH EREERTZHREN FEERX BREZZFELBESME AN
Valuation Unobservable Effect on fair value Fair value
Description technique inputs Range for increase of inputs 2017
BAREAMS —E-tE
sk fh{ER AUHRBANE &8 LFECHE OFE
HK$°000
TR
Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
BOTERARMZARAZRERE
Unlisted equity securities ~ Market approach Market Capitalisation - Market Capitalization of Decrease 51,537
- Guideline Publicly- Multiples Common Stock from
traded Comparable CNY 2,693 to CNY12,716
Method
FEmRAES 5% TEEE LaRmENT A
-ERARER ARB2693TE
AELRAAE ARB116T
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
BOTEHARRCRE
Profits guaranteed Discounted payoff with Credit discount rate  Discount rate make reference to  Increase 46,957
arrangement scenarios comparable bond yields
AHRERH ERBEAT CHERM FENRE BREZETALRES G BN
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sre SRR MRt

For the year ended 31 December 2018 =%
8.

REVENUE

The Group’'s revenue represents sales of battery
management systems and spare parts and interest income
from finance lease.

—N\F+ZA=t—HLFE

8. kA

AEEZWAEHETLEERFRLE
mEFALBEREF S A -

2018 2017
ZS—)\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Sales of battery management HEBMEERS KR
systems and spare parts HomiE T 61,191 35,133
Revenue from contracts with KEREPEHZHA
customers 61,191 35,133
Interest income from finance BEMEERN S WA
leasing 59 301
61,250 35,434
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with REEFREHZBRASE:
customers:
2018 2017
—Z—-)\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Geographical markets hET S
PRC s 61,191 35,018
Others HAh - 115
61,191 35,133
Major products/service TEER BB
Sales of battery management HEBMERRA LES M
system and lithium batteries 61,191 35,133
Timing of revenue recognition Y A fE 52 R
At a point in time PO — B [ B 61,191 35,133
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REVENUE (Continued)

Sales of battery management systems and spare
parts

The Group sells battery management systems and spare
parts to the customers. Sales are recognised when control
of the products has transferred, being when the products
are delivered to a customer, there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products
and the customer has obtained legal titles to the products.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
to the customers as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms
of 30 to 90 days. For new customers, deposits or cash on
delivery may be required. Deposits received are recognised as
a contract liability.

Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN el

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE

8.

WA (&)
HEBHWEERSERERENT

AEERAEFPHEELEERGE®
it e NEBERE M EHIER (B
AEFRNEM) BERKETELH
TEEFPEMEMBEEFERBERLZ
EEMBRRERIHER

FERRR AR P ?&HE%ZB%E%L :
BULTIREK BB 7 IEE'JHHHIJ
R S S bk il S L

AEE— R EPHERM30E0KRZ
EEM-HEPAEABRNREXET
HR-BWZeERARANEE:
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sre SRR MRt

For the year ended 31 December 2018 =%

9. OTHER INCOME

—NF+-R=t+—ALFE
9. HftilltA

10.

2018 2017
—E-N\F —+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Interest income B U A 205 3,375
Other receivables interest income H A IR B A 2,230 3,934
Gain on disposal of an associate & —fREE ATz s 62,411 -
Recognition of deferred income on TR A —HEE QAR T E 2
capital contribution to associate PRIEUWA 1,332 1,828
Gain on deemed disposal of WIELER — i L R F]
partial investment in an associate A E Z W = 2,765
Gain on capital contribution to m—ABE A RIHE 2 KEs
an associate - 77,861
Fair value gain on derivative MmEemIAZ A FEYER
financial instrument 8,616 40,729
Rental income el A - 211
Reversal of impairment of 0] B N BORE
other receivables - 1,837
Others HAth 3,165 2,091
77,959 134,631

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products. They are managed separately
because each business requires different technology and
marketing strategies. The Group has three reportable
segments: development of high-tech electric motor vehicles,
development and sales of battery managmenet systems
and spare parts and development of advanced batteries
materials.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements. Segment profits or losses do not
include unallocated corporate income and expenses.
Segment assets do not include unallocated corporate assets.
Segment liabilities do not include unallocated corporate
liabilities. Segment non-current assets do not include
financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment
benefit assets and rights arising under insurance contracts.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—ZFT— \F+=-A=+—HILFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. FEBEHE (8)
Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets BHENEFROERFEE EERE
and liabilities: B2 ER:
High-tech Battery
electric  management Advanced
motor systems and batteries
vehicles spare parts materials Total
BHE EEERK
EBE Ris@fat SGETRME ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET FHET TR
Year ended 31 December 2018: BE_Z-)\%
TZAZt+—-BLEE:
Revenue L/ON 58 61,192 - 61,250
Segment loss NEEE (85,460) (90,911) (8,169) (184,540)
Depreciation e (13,044) (2,248) (104) (15,396)
Other material non-cash items: HMERFRLER:
Impairment of property, 0¥ BERRERE
plant and equipment (134) - - (134)
Research and development expenses 8 F % (2,964) (22,559) (6,354) (31,877)
Additions to segment non-current RENHERBEE
assets 2,019 33,911 - 35,930
At 31 December 2018; RZE-N\E
+ZA=+-8:
Segment assets NHEE 743,566 31,762 4,076 779,404
Segment liabilities NHAE 9,144 9,725 161 19,030
Year ended 31 December 2017: EE_Z—t%
+ZRA=+—-HLFE:
Revenue L/ON 301 35,133 - 35,434
Segment (loss)/profit PE(B8R),/BH (157,337) 13,121 (5,046) (149,262)
Depreciation e 4,912) (1,394) (633) (6,939)
Other material non-cash items: HEMERFREER:
Impairment of property, 0¥ BERRERE
plant and equipment (14) (26) (M )
Research and development expenses Tt 2 f 5 (45,315) (11,662) (1,718) (58,695)
Additions to segment RENHERBEE
non-current assets 2,189 4,423 43 6,655
At 31 December 2017: RIS—t%F
+ZA=+-H
Segment assets NHEE 900,145 67,294 4,472 971,911
Segment liabilities AR 12,700 9,568 222 22,490
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sre SRR MRt

For the year ended 31 December 2018 =%
10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit and

~N\FTZA=t—BILEE
10. FEEH (&)

A 2R FWA G F R EE EER

loss, assets and liabilities: BEEER:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
(Restated)
(L&)
Revenue: 1&1 :
Total revenue of reportable o BN R
segments and consolidated ?V?E\MU\%E%E\
revenue 61,250 35,434
Profit or loss: BT B -
Total loss of reportable segments AEMmMHEEEERE (184,540) (149,262)
Corporate and unallocated Nal kAR BRF S EE
profit or loss (105,271) (158,836)
Share-based payment LARR 19 3= A 2 /8 - (947)
Income tax expense FRSHiF X (18) (360)
Consolidated loss for the year KFEFErEEE (289,829) (309,405)
Assets: gE:
Total assets of reportable segments  A] 25 & EEE 779,404 971,911
Corporate and unallocated assets: A A MKk DAL EE
— Equity investments at fair value —RAHERAHMEE
through other comprehensive WA 2 B2 E
income 38,423 66,225
— Bank and cash balances held —-AEEREBEAFFZ
by the Group's headquaters RITRINEG 15,664 103,803
- Others —HAth 466,727 524,651
Consolidated total assets HEBAERE 1,300,218 1,666,590
Liabilities: &R
Total liabilities of reportable AEmoHares
segments 19,030 22,490
Corporate and unallocated liabilities XA RADEEE
— Others —HAb 42,140 39,337
Consolidated total liabilities e BERE 61,170 61,827
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—ZFT— \F+=-A=+—HILFE

10. HEPEHE (48)

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information: 2 &K
2018 2017
—B-N\F —+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHET
Revenue: KA :
The People’s Republic of China R AR FEE
(the “PRC") ([hE]) 61,250 35,319
Others EAh - 115
61,250 35,434
In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based 2[R &R - WA THIRE P FTE

I
7 e

on the location of the customers. 1 B

Revenue from major customers: FEREPWA:
2018 2017
—ZE—)\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHET
Customer A EPA 43,036 34,559
Customer B ®FB 18,077 nil 4

Revenue from above customers individually contributed

KB LiEP ZWABRMEAERES

more than 10% of the total consolidated revenue of the U A ABEB10% A | o
Group.
2018 2017
—I\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FET
Non-current assets ERBHEE
(other than financial assets): (FEEeMEE) :
United States of America EREA R 1,025 1,813
The PRC AR 533,161 588,529
Hong Kong and others BB R HEAM 114,475 91,158
648,661 681,500
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 =%

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

—N\F+-A=t+-ALFE
1. MBRAX

2018 2017
—Z—-)\EFE —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FAET
Current tax — PRC Enterprise BVARHE I — AR B 1 2

Income Tax FriS T
Provision for the year FNEHE 18 -
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETR - 360
18 360

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
for the year as the Group did not generate any assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong (2017: nil).

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been

HRAEBER B B|E L A ER
A BN A B B A B B
BE(ZZ—t5:8)-

Hofth 3 [ FERR Bt ) 2 B IR S TR B

calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,

AEBEKEEBIERR 2 RITAE
RELRER HERITHETE-

interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the
product of loss before tax multiplied by Hong Kong Profits

Tax rate is as follows:

FriS iR X SRR T B ES 1B IR A BB FIE
MHEMEZEHERENT

2018 2017
—E—)\E —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHET
Loss before tax BRI AT 1B (289,811) (309,045)
Tax on loss before income tax, BREBRB A EREEAR
calculated at the rates applicable HwH S EBERMERAE
to profit/loss in the tax BRATSTAIE R 2 Ti1E
jurisdictions concerned (41,855) (45,782)
Tax effect of non-taxable income ZEE A Nl s 2 (17,595) (33,591)
Tax effect of non-deductible T—H‘D WA o RIEFE
expenses 55,984 69,198
Under-provision in prior years BEFEREBIR - 360
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RIERZIISETE 2
HExE 3,484 10,175
Income tax expense for the year FEMEHMAX 18 360
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE
12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 12. XFEEHH

The Group's loss for the year is stated after charging/ AEEAFEBEENR, (GTA) -
(crediting) the following:

2018 2017
—E-N\EF ZE—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEN N < 1,600 1,600
Cost of inventories sold EEFEKA 52,931 26,012
Depreciation e 29,433 21,949
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BEIERHEZ
plant and equipment & B 4,997 531
Loss on dissolution of an associate ~ — il & A A) fF Ak 2 E5 18 14,123 -
Gain on deemed disposal of partial 3 {EH &R — A& R R E5
investment in an associate &z W - (2,765)
Recognition of deferred income on RE—EEEARHEZ
capital contribution to associate PRI U A (1,332) (1,828)
Gain on capital contribution to ) — R E AR E 2 W
an associate - (77,861)
Fair value gain of derivative PTEEBRIAZAFEKE
financial instrument (8,616) (40,729)
Impairment of property, M BEMRERBZRE
plant and equipment 6,197 1,639
Reversal of impairment of E qth pE Yk 2 R E B
other receivables - (1,837)
Net exchange loss i 5 B 2,537 9,319
Operating lease charges in respect ~ T RIEF L&A EE R
of land and buildings 42,851 35,102
Research and development costs 3 Bk A 21,923 62,653
Staff costs including directors’ BINA (BEEEHE)
emoluments
— Salaries, bonus and allowances — ¥ % TEAL KOERL 158,200 141,977
— Equity-settled share-based — DAt A B AR (D
payments X2 RIE - 947
— Retirement benefits scheme —RREFET B
contributions 9,091 7,532
167,291 150,456
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ =T —\F+-_A=+T—HILFE
13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

13. EERERME

EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments of each director were as follows: BREFZMER:
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and scheme
Fees  allowances contributions Total
BFET
e HFeRER HEHR agE
2018 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-\E§ i = TET FERT TET TET
Executive Directors: RiTER:
Dr. Yeung Yung (E 156 3,527 - 3,683
Mr. Liu Stephen Quan BFEE 160 1,560 18 1,738
Mr. Hui Wing Sang,Wilson FKERE 160 2,340 18 2,518
Dr. Zhu Shengliang KBREL 160 1,226 - 1,386
Dr. Wang Chuantao FIIEET 156 2,352 - 2,508
Dr. Huang Chunhua HEERT 156 2,352 - 2,508
Mr. Xu Jianguo HRERRE 156 2,346 18 2,520
Mr. Li Zhengshan FELEE 160 2,352 18 2,530
Mr. Ting Kwok Kit, Johnny TEIGEE 160 2,340 18 2,518
Mr. Chen Xiao RS E 160 2,349 18 2,527
Non-executive Director: ERITESR:
Dr. Xia Tingkang, Tim EREFEEL 315 - - 315
Independent Non- Executive =~ BIEHRTES:
Directors:
Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace TEHTE @ 160 = = 160
Dr. Song Jian RiEET 349 - - 349
Mr. Cheng Tat Wa :lpetcp ity 160 - - 160
Dr. Zhu Guobin REDREL 312 - - 312
Dr. Li Jianyong PRERL 160 - - 160
Mr. Chan Sin Hang BREHEE 160 - - 160
3,200 22,744 108 26,052
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EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

n\/T\

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & =
13. DIRECTORS" AND EMPLOYEES’

13. EERESME (&)

“E-N\FF+-A=+—HLHFE

Retirement
Salaries benefits
and scheme
Fees allowances  contributions Total
RIKEH
we  FekEs ATEIE Fats)
2017 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
-t ik THT TR THT THT
Executive Directors: BiTEs:
Dr. Yeung Yung IEEL 156 3,507 - 3,663
Mr. Liu Stephen Quan AREE 160 1,170 9 1,339
Mr. Hui Wing Sang,Wilson TKERE 160 2,340 18 2,518
Dr. Zhu Shengliang ABREL 160 1,079 - 1,239
Dr. Wang Chuantao FIEEL 156 2,162 - 2,318
Dr. Huang Chunhua BERERT 156 2,338 - 2,494
Mr. Xu Jianguo REREEE 156 2,337 14 2,507
Mr. Li Zhengshan FEWEE 160 2,340 18 2,518
Mr. Ting Kwok Kit, Johnny TEGLE 160 2,210 18 2,388
Mr. Chen Xiao RELAE 160 2,340 18 2,518
Non-executive Director: FRITER:
Dr. Xia Tingkang, Tim BERET 313 - - 313
Independent Non- Executive ~ BIFRTEE:
Directors:
Mr. Wong Lee Hing FRIESE (b) 67 - - 67
Mr. Lee Cheung Yuet, Horace ZEH L (@) 51 - - 51
Dr. Song Jian AT 357 - - 357
Mr. Cheng Tat Wa HEEEhg 160 - - 160
Dr. Zhu Guobin REDR L 312 - - 312
Dr. Li Jianyong ZEEEL 160 - - 160
Mr. Chan Sin Hang REETE 160 - - 160
3,164 21,823 95 25,082
Notes: B 5
(@)  Appointed on 13 September 2017 (@ w —tFNA+=BEZFE
(b)  Retired on 31 October 2017 by MR-ZE—tF+A=+—HEMT
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 =%
13.

14.

15.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES'
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the
year included five (2017: five) directors, whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis above.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any of the directors or the highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend or declare the payment
of any dividend in respect of the years ended 31 December
2017 and 2018.

LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the loss
for year attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$288,571,000 (2017: approximately
HK$306,030,000) and the weighted average number
of 20,352,078,000 (2017: 20,337,873,000) ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted loss per share
The effects of all potential ordinary shares are anti-
dilutive for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 31
December 2017.
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13.

EERERMS (])

FR-AKRERUESFALTEERLA
(ZF—tHF 1R)EF FFEZHE
2R _EFI AT AR -

FRAEEYERETAESEH ALK
BEHALTZHERME - (ERBREIA
REBE PN INARE B 2 2R SRR
fhE-

;13-\
BEEVEBHE T —+HFR TN
F+ A=+ BHUEFEEZRENE
TR AR B o

SRER

(a) BREXEIE

RARER ANEESREANEE
TIRBEADNRESR AT
€ E518 #49288,571,00008 T (= &
— -+ 4F : 49306,030,000/5 7T ) &
AREEBDBITEBARINEF K
#020,352,078,000/% (= Z —+
£ :20,337,873,000/% ) 5t & «

(b) ER#EEFEER
BE-_ZT-N\F+-HA=1+—H
R—F—tF+-_A=+t—HiL
FE MBEEELBRYAGRE

-+
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/ﬁ 7 gE



For the year ended 31 December 2018 &= - % —
16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN el

NE+Z_RA=+—RHILFE

16. ME -BERRE

Leasehold
improvements Furniture
fixtures and and Motor  Construction
fittings ~ equipment  Machineries vehicles in progress Total
HEWE
K -BE
RERES RERRGE fa RE ERIE #u
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FER T FiER TR Tz
Cost BE
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+F-A—H 24,9% 23,924 10,995 68,222 - 128,137
Additions RE 1,485 4,830 3,545 4979 - 14,839
Disposals LE (706) - - (6,687) - (7,393)
Exchange differences ERZS 573 1219 1,037 1,488 - 4317
At 31 December 2017 and RZZE—t&
1 January 2018 +ZA=+-Bk
—Z-\5—-A-H 26,348 29,973 15,577 68,002 - 139,900
Additions hE 16,695 2,213 - 3,521 9,335 31,764
Disposals e - (2,228) (616) (4,660) - (7,504)
Exchange differences ERER 953 1,753 1,587 1,995 - 6,288
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E+ZA=1+-8 43,996 31,711 16,548 68,858 9,335 170,448
Accumulated depreciation and Bt E R {E
impairment
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+F—-A—H 8,229 8,808 998 29,773 - 47,808
Charge for the year FEENR 6,009 2,105 1,568 12,67 - 21,949
Disposals e (82) - - (3,743) - (3,825)
Impairment FE 3 1619 17 - - 1639
Exchange differences ERES 522 2 190 952 - 1,691
At 31 December 2017 and RZZE—t&
1 January 2018 +ZA=+-Bk
“E-\F¥-A-H 14,681 12,559 2,773 39,249 - 69,262
Charge for the year TEFMR 8,785 2,856 2358 15,434 - 29,433
Disposals e - (10) () (2,492) - (2,507)
Impairment HE 134 6,063 - - - 6,197
Exchange differences ERZS 1,465 2,424 2,234 3838 - 9,961
At 31 December 2018 REE-N\F+-A=1-H 25,065 23,892 7,360 56,029 - 112,346
Carrying amounts FE&#
At 31 December 2018 R-Z-\¥+-A=+—H 18,931 7,819 9,188 12,829 9,335 58,102
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+tF+ZA=1—8H 11,667 17,414 12,804 28,753 - 70,638

As at 31 December 2018, the Group engaged an
independent valuer to determine the fair value of the
property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2018
(the “Fair Value”). In assessing whether impairment
is required for the property, plant and equipment, the
carrying value is compared with the respective recoverable
amount. The Fair Value was determined using the market
approach. The recoverable amount used in assessing the
impairment loss is the fair value less costs of disposal with
reference to the Fair Value. The fair value was under level
3 fair value measurement. After impairment assessment
by the management, impairment loss of approximately
HK$6,197,000 (2017: HK$1,639,000) was recognised.

R—_E—\F+_A=+—8 +45H
ZR—ZBIGEMETDE BEX
BERZE-N\F+ZA=+—RHZA
FE([EZAFHE]) HTHEEFER
ME BEREZBELRER REE
SHAFE I RESEETHEE - ZAF
BETVRAMEAEE - R A RERE
BB 2 ml U Bl & 58 T A S ER E &S K
K- BHFELBEZATE RFEBSE
BRAFEFE-KEEBEITRER
i - B RERREEE 496,197,000/ 7T

—+ 41,639,000/ 7T ) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE=—ZE— \F+=-A=+—HIFE
17. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES 17. REBREARIZIRSE
2018 2017
—ZE—\F —t4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Unlisted investment: FELEMRE:
Share of net assets JELEEFE 406,862 547,494

Details of the Group's associates at 31 December 2017 and
2018 are as follows:

E/\_

—tERZT-NF+A

ST-HAKEBEQRZFRN

T
Place of Percentage of the
incorporation/ Company'’s indirect Principal
Name registration ownership interest activities
10509 ENTEIREME
£ FE BRREERZESL TEXH
2018 2017
—Z-\F CZZ—+F
MIEARZEERERAR The PRC Nil 25%  Manufacturing and sales of
Zhejiang GBS Energy Co., Limited* H 3 batteries, the PRC
HERHEE &
AR E R ERAA The PRC 16.7% 16.7%  Environmental automobile and
Shenzhen SUSTC Fuel Cell e related business, the PRC
Company Limited* RRAERBBER F
BERREBDNENERAF The PRC 18% 18%  Manufacturing and
Ningbo Joint Venture* H sales of batteries
HEREEEH
ZHARREEHERRIRERATF The PRC Nil 25%  Manufacturing and
Anhui Tiankang HK New Energy H 3 sales of batteries

Technology Co., Ltd.

* For identification purpose only

The above associates are accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
re BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE
17. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17. WEE AT ZI8 S (1)

Set as below are the summarised financial information of the TXEVERAEREARZEE AR
associates which is accounted for using equity method. I ERE -
Zhejiang GBS Energy Shenzhen SUSTC Fuel Cell
Co., Limited Company Limited
MIGCARBERFARAE FISHEHELERLE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\E S —E-N\E —T—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET THET FET
At 31 December: B+=ZB=+—8:
Non-current assets FRBEE - 57,856 = -
Current assets mBEE - 163,971 46,441 55,431
Non-current liabilities FRBEE - (2,052) (24,450) (28,152)
Current liabilities MEEE - (82,821) (789) (725)
Net assets BEFE - 136,954 21,202 26,554
Group's share of net assets REEEEFEE - 34,239 3,534 4,426
Up to disposal/Year ended HEHERIE
31 December: #=+-A
=+—HLEE:
Revenue WA 64,305 128,071 297 178

Profit/(loss) for the period/year  EAfE, /& &% F

(&#8) 8,236 10,428 (4,101) (43,820)
Other comprehensive Hittz2@E (F8)/
(loss)/income Wz (6,452) 8,671 (1,250) 1,351
Total comprehensive income/  Hifs,/FE 2@,/
(loss) for the period/year (BR)EH 1,784 19,099 (5,351) (42,469)
Dividends received from BB = A B R A

associates - - - -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE=—ZE— \F+=-A=+—HIFE
17. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17. RBi&E AT Z8ST (&)

Anhui Tiankang

HK New Energy Technology
Ningbo Joint Venture Co., Ltd.
EFREDHER RPMRXWIEE
BRLT HMERREFRLT
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-\FE —tF —E-\FE —+F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TET THT
At 31 December: ®+=RA=+—-8:
Non-current assets ERBEE 441,966 491,483 - 182,866
Current assets MEEE 1,849,782 1,913,938 - 242,250
Non-current liabilities FERBEE - - = -
Current liabilities mEEE (51,037) (28,270) - (886)
Net assets BEFE 2,240,711 2,377,151 - 424,230
Group's share of net assets FEHEEWA Z
before deferred income AEEEEFEE 403,328 427,887 - 106,057
Gain on capital contribution ~ MEEAFHEZ
to associate — deferred Wz —EERA
income - - - (25,115)
Group's share of net assets AEEEEFEE 403,328 427,887 = 80,942
Up to disposal/Year ended HEHEHI
31 December: 8EZ+=H
=+—BLEE:
Revenue KA = - 7173 7,436
Loss for the period/year HE/ FEESR (13,889) (23,485) (5,798) (7,741)
Other comprehensive loss Hip2mEE (122,551) (963) (69) (317)
Total comprehensive loss HE/FE2A
for the period/year EiReE (136,440) (24,448) (5,867) (8,058)

Dividends received from
associates

BB & 1 RIS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE
INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17. BBt & AT ZI8E (1)

The movement of deferred income are set out below: FEIEWA 2 EEYE TN T -

Anhui Tiankang HK New Energy
Technology Co., Ltd.

RWMEXBRIEEHEIRRH
FRATF
2018 2017
—Z—N\FE —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
As at 1 January »—A—H (25,115) -
Addition of deferred income arising Bt & AR E AL BHEITTR S
from transaction between the FrEE EZ L JE YA E BN
associate with the Group - (27,018)
Recognition of deferred income on TR A E QAR HE 2
capital contribution to associate PRAEUT A 1,332 1,828
Dissolution i Bk 23,783 -
Exchange difference MEHZER = 75
As at 31 December Rt+—-_A=+—H - (25,115)
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group REBEE-_Z-NF+_HA=+—H1E
disposed of the Zhejiang GBS Energy Co., Limited for a cash FE AEEHEMIEARBZEER
consideration of approximately HK$105,150,000, resulting BRAR RS KELA105,150,000
in a gain on disposal of an associate of approximately B EAEHE—HBE QR WELD
HK$62,411,000. 62,411,000 7T °
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group REBEEZE_T-N\F+_A=+—HILF
terminated the agreement with Anhui Tiankang (Group) B AEEKIEETERE (RE) k)
Co., Ltd. and the dissolved the associate, Anhui Tiankang HK BRARIGIM 2 WA E A 7
New Energy Technology Co., Ltd. The title of the technical ZEHREIEBHEREHTER AR -
knowhow of fair value of approximately HK$62,555,000 $T§%’962,555,0007%ﬁZ&ﬁ%ﬂ%&%ZFfr
is transferred to the Group after dissolution, resulting in BRENMEEEZTARER E4R
an loss on dissolution of an associate of approximately B — B & A ] 2 518 4916,678,000/7%8
HK$16,678,000. JT°
INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. REELRZHE
2018 2017
—N\F —ET—+tF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Unlisted investments: FELETIRE
Share of net assets JEIEFEE 22,772 -

EEREERLT —2- 558 —O O O—
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 =%

18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(Continued)

The following table shows the information of joint venture.
The joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method. The
summarised financial information presented is based on the
HKFRS financial statements of the joint venture.

Name

Ey

Principal place of business/country of incorporation
FTEZEME FMKIER

Principal activities

—N\F+ZA=t—HLFE

18. REERLRZIVE (M)

TRINTAEEREZER -ZREDE

N AN A MBEHRERAR - FT27

Zﬁﬁki@r’%ﬁ%%L /\**/JE%ZE/%BM&
WE LRI G R A ERE

BEREBRBEZERERA

PRC/PRC
I

Development and sales of
motor vehicles and parts

FTEEH 8% R S & S AR
% of ownership interests/voting rights held by the Group 50%/50%
REEBMBHAEER TREESD
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
At 31 December: »+=-—B=+—A:
Current assets mENEE 45,544 -
Net assets EEFAE 45,544 -
Group's share of net assets AEEEEFEE 22,772 -

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the joint venture
is @ dormat company.

—0O O O— Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited Annual Report 2018

@:Kt - N\FE+_A=1+—HLF
EERBARERR]

i %
w
Dﬂi;q



Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

Are BRI RE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE

19. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

19. BAFEHEARMZEEA
ZERERE

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —T—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAET
Equity securities listed outside BBEII ETRAF S
Hong Kong
EBCREREREARYE FECREREREARYE
BRAA BRAE 15,427 14,688
Unlisted equity securities ETRAF S
HEMERFEAREBRADF] EMERFEREBRA A 22,996 51,537
38,423 66,225

The above investments are intended to be held for the
medium to long-term. Designation of these investments
as equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income can avoid the volatility of the fair
value changes of these investments to the profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
entered into an agreement with an independent third party
to acquire the equity interest in E/B{CREEEELN
R BEMR A (“Ei#BIZE"), incorporated in the PRC and
listed in National Equities Exchange and Quotations (stock
code: 838518), is a Sino-foreign venture under the PRC
Law. The Group intends to hold the investments for long-
term capital appreciation and has no intention to dispose
of the investments in the near future. As at 31 December
2018 and 2017, the Group holds 8.5% (2017: 8.5%)
equity interest in =/&{Z#@. Dr. Zhu Shengliang and Mr. Li
Zhengshan, the executive directors of the Company, hold
16.2% (2017: 16.2%) and 0.9% (2017: 0.9%) equity
interest of /& {Z 38 respectively.

iR EFEIP R - HERFR
BERBAFEFARMEERAZBRA
REA@RZERENBEZ A FER
BHRKE

REE2-_ZE—RF+_A=+—H1t
FE AEEE—ZBIEZ I
HOUKE LS CREREER ARG
BRAR ([LwE]) 2 g
BIREPBEEERP MK AR
FONEBERE IR EEFR/PNDERD
HERAEG LT (DS 838518) o 7K
EEBEA R EMERBEAIE
BIWENIHHEZREZERM - R
T-NFE-_E—+F+_A=1+—
B AEEFELEHCEZ85% (ZF
—tF:85% ) RIE-ARNAZHITE
ERBRBEIREELAEDREE L
EC®2162% (ZE—+F:16.2%)
F0.9% (ZZT—+%F:09% ) iiE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 =%

—N\F+ZA=t—HLFE

19. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 19. BAFEiARM2EKA
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE ZEFERE ()
INCOME (Continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group RBE-_Z-—R"F+A=+—H1L
entered into an agreement with an independent third party FE AEEE-RBIE=FEI W
to acquire the equity interest in F R ERFPEAREGRA o LARR(E AR B60,000,0007T U B
A (“EHHEER", together with its subsidiaries as the “Meilai EMERFEREGR AT ([HHE
Group”) at a consideration of RMB60,000,000. & #3E3k &R EME AR A [ RREE])
is incorporated in the PRC and is an unlisted limited liability 2 HRHE o B MRS R AR B R B S - 3
company established in the PRC under the PRC Law, which RIFPBEEERPEKL A —FEIFE LD
does not have quoted market price in an active market. BREMLRAR HRERTIS T ETIS
The Group intends to hold the investment for long-term WE - AEERBEZIREMERRAEA
capital appreciation and has no intention to dispose of the AAE B EANAHEEZIRECE
investment in the near future. As at 31 December 2018, the MeRZE-—NF+ZA= ‘f’ =RV
Group holds 5% (2017: 5%) equity interest in & 7R3 2k, EEBBEMERIS% —t5F:
5% ) P4 °
20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. |z EE
Technical
knowhow
5 1l 40 %
2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
FAT
Cost %3
At 1 January 2017, N N il =
31 December 2017 and —E—+tFTA=1T—8K
1 January 2018 —ZE-N\F—-H—H -
Additions from N AR EUIRE
dissolution of associate 62,555
At 31 December 2018 WZZE-NF+A=+—AH 62,555
Accumulated depreciation and Rt ERRBE
impairment
At 1 January 2017, R_E—tF—H—1-
31 December 2017 and —+tF+ZA=+—HK
1 January 2018 Z—)\F—H—H -
Charge for the year I AR -
At 31 December 2017 and RZZE—+F+A=+—AK
1 January 2018 —N\F—H—H -
Carrying amount FEEE
At 31 December 2018 R-_F—)\F+-H=1+—~H 62,555

At 31 December 2017 and
1 January 2018

RZE—tF+_A=+—HK
—Z—\¥—A—"H
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

21.

22.

The title of technical knowhow is transferred from an
associate to the Company after dissolution of the associate
during the year. The technical knowhow has no foreseeable
limit to the period over which the Group can use to generate
net cash flows. As a result, the technical knowhow was
considered by the management of the Group as having an
indefinite useful life because it is expected to contribute to
net cash inflows indefinitely. The technical knowhow will
not be amortised until their useful life are determined to be
finite. Instead it will be tested for impairment annually and
whenever there is an indication that it may be impaired.

The Group reviews the recoverable amount of the technical
knowhow. No impairment loss has been recognised in the
current year. The recoverable amount of the relevant assets
has been determined on the basis of their value in use using
discounted cash flow method. The discount rate used is
15.5% (level 3 fair value measurements).

,4_|
/\\/T\

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & =

B IR M R

“E-N\FF+-A=+—HLHFE

20. | R E (#8)

BT &8 2 P R S AN A B — e B
ERAIMAEAZBMERNREZETAR
Al AEETEARMMBELFRES
ME AR AT IR BRR & o E k- A
B 2 EIRER BT A AT A B AR
PR - R B 7 k1l 0 84 78 B AT A R B R
WERAFRE - NI BFEHETERER
Al BT AN T S E N - AR BT AN
BFREEREATRETRARE LR
/UMEHT ?:I/UZ,@ EUW

AEB g B A E 258 -
REEWEERREEE - HHEEELZ
AR E R TIARR RS REEIEER
BEEBET FAAREERI55% (F=
BN FERE) -

PREPAYMENTS 21. AR
2018 2017
—E—\f§ —+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Prepayment for: T5|IEE 2 BT
— Research and developments —)REMEIAE
projects for motor vehicles 98,370 63,368
INVENTORIES 22. &R
2018 2017
—E-N\E —tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Raw materials [E A 10,369 8,808
Work in progress & m - 658
Finished goods LUK oh 1,745 65,860
Consumables SEFEM 126 82
12,240 75,408

EEREERLT —2- 558 —O O O—
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 =%

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—N\F+-A=t+-ALFE
23. FEY SR 5 kA B H fH B U 3k

2018 2017

—Z—-)\EFE —E—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THT FAET

Trade receivables U E 57 E 790 28,413
Less: impairment losses Ve /)WEJEETE - -
790 28,413

Prepayment to a supplier TE T4 F‘éf’ﬁw)\ 333,918 333,918
Prepayments to others TR AT H A 5 51T 131,346 39,468
Deposits and other receivables Tﬁ?@&,ﬁ\m%%ﬁﬂ 30,132 76,588
Amounts due from directors FE U E = 5018 1,868 2,572
498,054 480,959

Included in prepayments to others mainly represent

amount prepaid for research and development projects
of approximately HK$106,932,000 (2017: approximately
HK$21,219,000), and prepayment for other expenses.

As at 31 December 2018, included in other receivables,
an other loans receivables of HK$17,106,000 (2017:
HK$17,106,000) carries interest rate at 4.35% to 6% (2017:
4.35% to 6%) per annum, repayable within one year and
is secured by equity interest of the debtor, being an unlisted
limited liability company and its own shares of a listed
limited liability company, and guarantees provided by the
related parties of the debtor. The directors of the Company
monitored the collectability of these receivables closely
with reference to their respective current creditworthiness
and repayment records. As at 31 December 2018, all
these receivables were neither past due nor impaired. The
management believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of the these receivables as they are
considered fully recoverable.
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FENHMARIBEEEFEEER 278
5 #9106,932,00008 7T ( — B —+£
4921,219,000/8 70) R E b5 & 2 Fa 1+
e

RZZE—N\FF+_A=+—H EfbfE
W B s E b U E 717,106,000 7T
(ZZF— ti17mmw%ﬁ)ﬁ¢
FEA4.35%FE6% —+F:435%
26% )t B AR — ﬂzm1§5& A7 LA
BA(B—BIELTEREEAR)Z
EE—FMEMERETARANE 2K
MAREIE A% % @ 7 R 2 EIRIE
B -ARAREE2RZFRUEH
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements
T A R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Amounts due from directors are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Trade receivables

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 to 90 days
to its trade customers. Each customer has a maximum credit
limit. For new customers, payment in advance is normally
required. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by the directors.

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on invoiced
date, and net of allowance, is as follows:

23. FENG R 5 ™R IR B H fh BB 0y =&

(#)

FERESFFRASERA 2ENARE

FER B 5 518
REBEMESHEFRHE30E90K 2 FH
FEEB -8 R2EFUXE=SEERE
Rl FEP—MATENFIE KNEH
B S E R U B PR R SRS B R B o
E=THRaEER-

11552 B R PR 5 3R (31
BRI BRI T

2018 2017

—ZE—-)\F —T—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

0 to 30 days 0E30K 790 9,471
31 to 60 days 31E60K - 9,471
61 to 90 days 61E90K - 9,471
790 28,413

As at 31 December 2018, all trade receivables were
neither past due nor impaired. Based on past experience,
the management believes that no impairment allowance
is necessary in respect of these balances as there are no
significant change in their respective credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable.

RZZE-N\F+ZA=+—H FAE
WE 5 FRHRER T ARE - RIFE
R BEEMEE HRNZEEHE
B2 EEEROEBEEREY A%FH
SIBAR BRI BB E - R EBARZE
FERRIEHRLE A -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE=—ZE— \F+=-A=+—HIFE

24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT 4. T4 E€mT A
2018 2017
ZE—)\EF —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHRT FHBT
Profits guaranteed arrangement v ) OR 78 22 BE 55,018 46,957

Pursuant to the capital injection into the Meilai Group,
which classified as equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income, during the year ended 31
December 2016, certain shareholders of Meilai Group
(the "Guarantors”) covenanted and guaranteed to the
Company that the audited consolidated net profit after tax
of the Meilai Group shall not be less than the profit targets
as summarised below:

(i)  for the year ended 31 December 2016 shall be no
less than RMB160 million (the “2016 Whole Year
Guaranteed Profit”), with accumulated target net
profit of RMB160 million;

(i) for the year ended 31 December 2017 shall be no
less than RMB290 million (the “2017 Whole Year
Guaranteed Profit”), with accumulated target net
profit of RMB450 million;

(i) for the year ended 31 December 2018 shall be no
less than RMB470 million (the “2018 Whole Year
Guaranteed Profit”), with accumulated target net
profit of RMB920 million;

In the event that the actual net profit is less than the target
net profit, the Guarantors shall pay the Company on a
dollar-for-dollar basis based on the formula as stipulated in
the investment agreement.

Additionally, if Meilai Group successfully completes the
listing of its shares or the corporate restructuring for its
proposed listing on or before 30 June 2018, the profit
guarantee will lapse automatically.
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REBRAZXKEEZTE (DBEREAF
B AEMEEBAZBAERE) R
BE-_Z-A"F+-_A=1T—BL#F
[ EREEZETER ((REA) R
R ARG RAIRFER R E B Z EE XA
BIRBRARIE T & DR T U 2 i
FBER:

) HEZZE—R"Ft+ZA=1+-—
BEFE - T2LRARK
160,000,000 ([ZZB—XRE2
FRERT) RFTEERLHNA
AR #160,000,0007T ;

(i) Eﬁﬁ:f—t¢+_ A=+—
BEFE - T2LRARK
290,000,0007TC ( [—Z2—t%2
FRERT) RFTEERLHNA
AR #450,000,0007T : &

(i) BE_ZT—N\EF+_A=+—
BEFE - T2LRARK
470,000,000 ([ZZ2—N\FE2
FRERT]) RFTEERLEHN A
AR #920,000,0007T ;

HERAF DR BIRAF - AREAR
RIBEE W ZFAZE N IRFEEER
EN/NCIENE

BE WEREERNR_ZE—N\FXA
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

25.

(Continued)

The fair value of the profit guarantee was approximately
HK$55,018,000 (2017: HK$46,957,000) as at 31 December
2018, which was determined by the directors of the
Company by reference to the valuation performed by
Royson Valuation Advisory Limited based on expected
cash flow method in which the cash flow for each year
represents the difference between the guaranteed profit
and the projected net profit. The directors of the Company
estimated the projected net profits of the acquired available
for sale financial assets under three different scenarios with
respective scenario probabilities. The fair value of the profit
guarantee was the probability-weighted average of the
present values of the shortfalls between the guaranteed
profits and the projected net profits under the three
scenarios.

The changes in fair value of the derivative financial
instrument were recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

BANK AND CASH BALANCES

As at 31 December 2018, the bank and cash balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$14,925,000 (2017: approximately HK$98,485,000).
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

nﬂ?

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & =
24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT 24.

25.

ChibuE e
SE-\F+-A=Zt-ALEE
TERmMIA (§)

R-ZE—N\F+-A=+—8 HFR
B2 A F{EL A55,018,0008 L (=&
—+4F 1 46,957,00058 7T ) * Ty AR A

ESLZERRTEEBERRAGIATER
REREEFETZHEREE - RIEH
BerErit BF2RERERRE
M EFERA R =5 AR A EEIR
BEZEATREBE RGBT HEES
BEEZTEAMH RS EBRZE-
mﬂ% B2 N ETVRE T HZ = ([
BRT 2B ZEATE 28R EY
BRI IH -

RBE_Z-N\FER-_ZT—+F+-A
=t EIJJ:EF TEERTAZRYF
BEEPENGEERLEMEEKE R
FER -

BITR B & &K

RZE-—NFE+_A=+—0 &%
EAAREFEZRITRRSEHL
14,925,0008 L (ZE—+F: 4
98,485,000/ 7T ) ° H #a A R BN
JE B SF AR B ANE E I AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE=—ZE— \F+=-A=+—HIFE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. FE {32 5 5 IH By Bt FE 41 3%

2018 2017
—Z—-)\EFE —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FAET
Trade payables FETE S FIE 7,615 8,168
Accruals and other payables FERT B P R SR 53,164 53,021
Amount due to a director B —REEFHIA 391 638
61,170 61,827

Trade payables A EZRE
The aging analysis of the trade payables, based on the date RIBEWENE BB E BB SRR

of receipt of goods, is as follows: ARl D AT a0

2018 2017
ZE—N\E —T—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FET
0 to 180 days 0£180K - 312
181 to 360 days 181E360K 49 6,825
Over 360 days B iB360K 7,566 1,031
7,615 8,168
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

27.

28.

B IR M R

/\\7.]_\
For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—ZFT— \F+=-A=+—HILFE
RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 27. BARAIRE
Employee retirement benefits EERIKER
The Group operates a mandatory provident fund REBERBEARGIMAE ST ENHED
scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong REBMAESEREREM —HR ST

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is
a defined contribution retirement scheme administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
makes contributions to the scheme at 5% — 10% and
employees are required to make 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Mandatory contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.

Subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC participate in various
defined contribution retirement plans (“Plans”) organised
by local authorities for the Group’s employees in the PRC.
The subsidiaries are required to contribute, based on a

NESTE ([AEERE ) -afEest
B —EBRBL ETATREZATEMRK
RIRETE - BIERTESTE BEIRE
BHERIUWR A Z5% = 10%A 51 24 2

ifiE 8 RIZEIZ5 % M5k - & AR £
PR 430,0007% 7T ° 08 f& & 51 &) 2 58 il 1%

R RBNES B

REPEEMRZZMEARRAEEZ
TEIEESEAMTEESR TR
ERFCRINETE ([ZEatE®]) - Z5H
BRAARBEAHFEZETEDLRA

certain percentage of the basic payroll, to the Plans. The ZEFT AR o By Ll F E RN R
Group has no other obligation for the payment of pension SEWEAMEAZEGEEH 2 ENKE
benefits associated with these Plans beyond the annual BANNREE-
contributions described above.
SHARE CAPITAL 28. =&
Number of
shares Amount
;2178 o 4=] &8
HK$'000
FHIT
Authorised: EE:
Ordinary shares of RZE—tF—H—R"
HK$0.1 each at :T +tHE+=A=+—8"
1 January 2017, —NF-—HA—BK
31 December 2017, f/\EJr:ﬂ =+—H
1 January 2018 and BREENA T L BR
31 December 2018 800,000,000,000 80,000,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE=—ZE— \F+=-A=+—HIFE

28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 28. BR& (48)
Number of
shares Amount
BiAEAE &
Notes HK$'000
B3 FET

ERTRAE:
RZZE—tF—HA—8H"

HK$0.1 each at “E—tF+ZA=+—HEkK

1 January 2017, —N\F—A—H

31 December 2017 and BREECAETZ EEK

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of

1 January 2018 20,337,872,747 2,033,787
Shares issued under REERETEI T 2R )
share option schemes (a) 15,000,000 1,500
Ordinary shares of RZZE-NF+_A=+—H
HK$0.1 each at SREECIEIL . EER
31 December 2018 20,352,872,747 2,035,287
(@) During the year, 15,000,000 share options were (@) A 15,000,000 B BT # 1R 35

BT IR TR0 1148 T2 &
BETE B 8RNI
2 5% I8 {7 18 F0 B £9803,000% 7T
% ANREZEBITRAEINL
1,500,000/ 7T * E & 5 @ ERR Al
H#A1491,013,00078 7T ©

exercised under the share option scheme at the price
of HK$0.114 per share. Accordingly, the Company’s
issued share capital increased by approximately
HK$1,500,000 and its share premium account was
increased by approximately HK$1,013,000, after
charge from the share-based payment reserve of
approximately HK$803,000.

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maximise the return to the shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by
considering the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new
share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of
new debts, redemption of existing debts or selling assets
to reduce debts in order to maintain sufficiency of working
capital.
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN el

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE

29. RESERVES 29. fiEfm
(a) The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements (a) AEEFHSBLEEHNEIGIRE
therein are presented in the consolidated statement BmkEMEERERARES
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and EHEHRET -
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
(b) Reserves of the Company (b) ARATFE
Share-based
Share  Contributed payment  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
MBA% A
BipER BABR RERR RIER it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FTET TET TR TR
At 1 January 2017 RZF—+tF—-A—H 2,122,201 94,601 393,197 (2,769,628) (159,629)
Recognition of equity settled  FEFRLAIE & 45 5 3 IR 15
share-based payment Xt 2R - - 947 - 947
Loss for the year AEEHE - - - (400,677) (400,677)
At 31 December 2017 RIZ—+F
+-A=+—-H 2,122,201 94,601 394,144 (3,170,305) (559,359)
At 1 January 2018 W=2—NF—F—H 2,122,201 94,601 304144 (3170305  (559,359)
Share issued under share  IRIREERRIERT 1547 2 B ln
option schemes 1,013 - (803) - 210
Lapse of share options B R - - (1,820) 1,820 -
Loss for the year AEEFE - - - (244,431) (244,431)
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\F
+-A=+—-H 2,123,214 94,601 391,521 (3,412,916) (803,580)
() Nature and purpose of reserves (0 FEMERE®
(i)  Share premium account () Rz ERk
Share premium represents premium arising from Binm BB L SREE
the issue of shares at a price in excess of their ZBEBITIRG FTEE 2 5m
par value per share and is not distributable but B BAADIK HRAR
may be applied in paying up unissued shares of BB ERAR I REEITIE
the Company to be issued to the shareholders R AL IR 2 AN R EIR
of the Company as fully paid bonus shares BEATRR D 2 IR SR B [E]
or in providing for the premiums payable on MAD B VE R FE A R (B o

repurchase of shares.
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AT A IS ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ =T —\F+-_A=+T—HILFE
29. RESERVES (Continued) 29. fEfiR (#)

() Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued) () REEMEREW (E)

(ii)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company
represents the difference between the
consolidated shareholders’ funds of the
subsidiaries at the date on which they were
acquired by the Company, and the nominal
amount of the Company’s shares issued
for the acquisition at the time of the group
reorganisation prior to the listing of the
Company's shares in 1995.

Under the applicable laws of Bermuda, the
contributed surplus account of a company is
available for distribution. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if:

- it is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become
due; or

- the realisable value of its assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its issued share capital and

(ii)

A EE
RRBZEABBRTINAR
A B AR E B EM
BRRZHEEBRRESERN
ARBBEME-—NNEFE
MRIETTSR B EER BB
BITZARARMEERZ
ER

REBREERERE —
LIPNCIPA- ON-=S- 3 R eas
ke AT W HIRIATIE
W AR RBAGREBAR

ERSOR BB HAIEL D
i

- ARBENIHRIK
NRrENNEEE

(=3

- ARAREZTER
O R B £ R
B BT RA R

share premium accounts. T BAR 4% -
(iii))  Translation reserve (i) BEFE
The translation reserve has been established and BRERECRERINERE
dealt with in accordance with the accounting Kz @t ERYT RE
policy adopted for foreign currency translation. P
(iv) Share-based payment reserve (iv) HRGZNZ7EFE

The share-based payment reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to employees
and consultants of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for equity-settled share-based payments in note
4 to the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 H = - %
30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 30. A FMER AR

THE COMPANY

Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN el

—N\E+ZA=+—HLHFE

2018 2017
—I\F —+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FET
Non-current assets ERBHEE
Property, plant and equipment M BB R 3,393 5,082
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR Z®E 27,678 27,678
31,071 32,760
Current assets B EE
Amounts due from subsidiaries g N NGIE ] 1,200,229 1,435,607
Prepayments, deposits and AR ke Rk
other receivables Hh & R 11,966 10,614
Bank and cash balances R17T IR @ ek 920 8,809
1,213,115 1,455,030
Current liabilities mB AR
Accruals and other payables FEET B FA I B FE PR 12,479 13,362
Net current assets mENEEFE 1,200,636 1,441,668
NET ASSETS HERE 1,231,707 1,474,428
Capital and reserves EFR R
Share capital fi& A 2,035,287 2,033,787
Reserves i (803,580) (559,359)
TOTAL EQUITY RRdE 1,231,707 1,474,428
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AT A IS ERR M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ =T —\F+-_A=+T—HILFE

31.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants
include the full-time and part-time employees, executives,
officers, directors, business consultants, agents, and legal
and financial advisers of the Company and the Company’s
subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective on 13 June 2013
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an
amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time. The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options to each
eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of shares options in
excess of this limit is subject to shareholders” approval in a
general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value
(based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date of
the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 & =
31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 14 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The
exercise period of the share options granted is determinable
by the directors, and commences after a certain vesting
period and ends on a date which is not later than five years
from the date of the offer of the share options or the expiry
date of the Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of the offer of the share options; (ii) the average
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company's shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the
offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares on
the date of the offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows:

Date of grant Exercise period

Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(ERWSADENNCIE 7SSOSR PATTEE]
(AEERERE) -

PR EE TERAEAZTAEREXR
BRAEG ERE 2R -

B 2 RERERIFBMT

Exercise price

/LA™ TR TEE
2008 6 February 2008 6 February 2008 to 5 February 2018 HK$0.1140
2008 —ZEENF-_AH —EEN\F_ARNBEZZ—)\FZ_HAH 0.1140/ 7T
2012(b) 4 December 2012 1 January 2015 to 3 December 2022 HK$0.1200
2012(b) —E-—_F+-AWH —hFF—HA—BE-T-__F+=-HA=H 0.12007 7T
2013 6 September 2013 6 September 2013 to 5 September 2023 HK$0.1080
2013 —E-=FNHARHE ZE-ZFARARREZZ-_=FNAAA 0.1080/8 7T
2014(a) 29 July 2014 29 July 2014 to 28 July 2024 HK$0.1136
2014(a) —mFEA=+hHE —HFE+LAZTNABZEZZ-_MELAZ+/N\B 011368
2014(b) 20 November 2014 20 November 2014 to 19 November 2024 HK$0.2010
2014(b) —FE+—A=+H —mF+—AZ+HEZEZZ-WE+—A+HAEBE 020108
2015 14 July 2015 14 July 2015 to 13 July 2025 HK$0.3950
2015 —hE+tATMA —HFtA+HBZE-_Z-_RF+tA+=H 0.3950/8 7T
2016 9 December 2016 9 December 2016 to 8 December 2026 HK$0.2280
2016 —Z—AFTZANH ZE-ARFTZANAEZZ=AF+ZANH 0.22807 7T
2017 20 January 2017 20 January 2017 to 19 January 2027 HK$0.1872
2017 —+tF—A=+H —+tF-AZ+REZZT=tF— A+ 1A 0.18727% 7T
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE=—ZE— \F+=-A=+—HIFE
31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 31. IRz RIB (#8)

On 29 November 2016, the Company granted 200,000,000 RZZE—RF+—AZ+hB KAA
option shares to a consultant in exchange for services. Up M) — 7% B8 i #% £1200,000,000% & A% 4
to the year ended 31 December 2018, the services have not R AMERE BEEEHE_T—N
yet provided by the consultant; therefore no recognition of S+ A=T—HILFERIL ZEM
the fair value of the services received for the year ended MARRHEEBERE AtEE—F—+t
31 December 2017 and 2018. The fair value of the share FRZFE-NFTZA=T—RHLFE
options was approximately HK$2,000 as at 31 December W EERE W B 2 ATFE - R_F
2017 (2017:approximately HK$1,970,000), which was *tEJr A=1T—H Z5Eki#Ez
determined by valuation performed by an independent N EAR2,0008T (ZE—HEF: 4
valuer based on binomial tree model. 1,970,000/ 7T)  JyiRE\ — BB (4 1E
B A —TER R A 1T 2 (H{EEE
FARRITE  BIREZFBHOT

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are

as follows:
2018 2017
ZE-\E§ e

Weighted Weighted
average average
Number of exercise Number of exercise
share options price share options price
miEFy T
BRkENE fEE BREHE 1@
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Outstanding at the beginning ~ REMHRITE
of the year 1,866,000,000 0.216  1,856,000,000 0.216
Granted during the year RERKE - - 10,000,000 0.187
Exercised during the year RERTE (15,000,000) 0.114 - -
Expired during the year REREH (34,000,000) 0.114 - -

Outstanding at the end RERMAKITE
of the year 1,817,000,000 0.219  1,866,000,000 0.216

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
for share options exercised during the year was HK$0.146
(2017: HK$nil). The options outstanding at the end of
the year have a weighted average remaining contractual
life of 5.6 years (2017: 6.6 years) and the exercise prices
range from HK$0.108 to HK$0.395 (2017: HK$0.108 to
HK$0.395).
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31.
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33.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE—ZFT— \F+=-A=+—HILFE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

These fair values were calculated using the binominal pricing
model. The inputs into the model are as follows:

31.

LIRS ft IR (#8)

ZERNFEER-BAEEELAE -
B B ABBIT

20 January

2017
—Z2—+tF
—RA=+H

Share price I (B

Exercise price IEE
Expected volatility TEEH R I8
Expected life TE ET 4 5

Risk free rate 1 [ P ) 2
Expected dividend yield TEET AR BB ¥R

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price. The
expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on the Group’s best estimate, for the effects of
non transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in
respect of certain offices and factory premises are analysed
as follows:

32.

HK$0.1800/% JT
HK$0.1872/ 7T
71.51%

10 years F
1.796%

0%

BEERIRET DB BT EARRAREBZES
MIREE - RAE A 2 AR FHIE AR
AEBZ &EMGB AT EREE 17
ERFRITAEEBZEEIELRE-

HERiE

RBERR BEETHIEREED
K2 TAIHEEREMHE N 2 RR&EM
ENFREEAFWT

2018 2017
—E—)\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Within one year R—%F K 31,390 22,051
In the second to fifth year inclusive E_EZEEFREFA
(BEEREMTE) 16,901 11,780
48,291 33,831
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. AR S

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the
Group entered into the following material related party
transactions.

ﬁ%i‘iﬁ/\ﬁﬁﬁi&ﬁﬁfm%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ?ZQ
RBERIN REBGETATEKRE
?%Tji%

2018 2017

ZE—)\F —E—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

Fi#xT FHT

Purchase of raw materials HERERM R = 1,245

The raw materials were purchased from Anhui Tiankang
HK New Energy Technology Co., Ltd., the associate of the
Group.

BRRVH I AAREE ZBE R ERH
RELEBHERMBARARRE -

EEREERLT —2- 558 —O O O—
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE=—ZE— \F+=-A=+—HIFE
34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 34. ZAFETEMBLATZHRS

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

The table below lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the financial position of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:

TRIVNESARUAFEXERER
FEYSARAEEMBARRERR D Z
RAFMBAR -EFRS REHM
MHERRZHIFEEATBN TR

RBEHR  NAREEMB AR ZFF
BT

Percentage
of the
ownership
Place of Issued/paid-up interest/
incorporation/ registered voting
Name registration capital power  Principal activities
i &
BWMmL BBfT/ #& /RFRE
& B BEEREF BRL EERH
American Compass Inc. us Ordinary 100%*  Investment holding
US$17,000,000
ES Bk RERR
17,000,0003 7T
Billion Energy Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100%  Investment holding
K REBRR BA BT REER
Hybrid Kinetic Motors Corporation Us Us$1,000 100%  Development of high-tech
electric motor vehicles
e 1,000% 7T RESHEEDE
HK Battery Technology Inc. Us Ordinary 99.9%  Development of high-tech
US$109,532 electric motor vehicles
e LiER109,532% T RESHEEDE
EEBEBHERERLA The PRC Registered 60.21%  Development of advanced
(Lianyungang Hybrid Kinetic New capital of battery materials
Energy Co., Limited) US$27,000,000
HE FMER RELETOIH
27,000,000% 7T
EEBIRMRTEHE The PRC Registered 100%  Sale of high-tech electric motor vehicles
BERAH capital of and components and provision of
RMB5,000,000 after-sales services
hE HER HERMBEDEREMY -
AEH5,000,0007C IARRGER R
LTErERARERRAR The PRC Registered 100%  Provision of finance lease services
capital of
UsD30,000,000
HE AMER RERSBERY
30,000,000 7T

* Shares held directly by the Company
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Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements
T A R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HHZ T —\F+T_A=+—HILFE

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

35.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that
have non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the
Group. The summarised financial information represents
amounts before inter-company eliminations.

34. ELFEBMB LTI ZER

(#)

TRIREEEASEMEBENZIF
2R S B ARER - MBEER
ETVETAREHER 28

Lianyungang Hybrid Kinetic
New Energy Co., Limited

EEEBTEHEEFEERLT
2018 2017
—E—)\%FE —E—+F
Principal place of business/ FEEEMI FAMKRIER The PRC
country of incorporation T
% of ownership interests/ TR ERRTE Z 39.79%
voting rights held by NC HEEERRERY
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FET
At 31 December: »+=B=+—8:
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,424 14,047
Current assets MEEE 88,020 85,354
Non-current liabilities EREBAEE - -
Current liabilities mEEaE (14,686) (15,473)
Net assets BEFE 76,758 83,928
Accumulated NCI 2T IR 30,542 33,395
Year ended 31 December: BE+-_R=1+—HLEE:
Revenue A - -
Loss for the year REEE A (865) (2,158)
Total comprehensive income EHNE BT (2,853) 5,545
Loss for the year allocated to NCI 7 fig = JF I i A 25
AREEEIE (344) (859)
Net cash used in operating activities 4% & /EB)FT AR & F 50 (470) (1,328)
Net cash used in investing activities & & EB)FT AR & F 5 (262) (43)
Net cash generated from BhEEE TSR 2 58
financing activities - -
Net decrease in cash and BekReFEMR L FEE
cash equivalents (732) (1,371)
APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED 35. #t#ifSMBERE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March

HoHRS

HEMBBRRER T -NLF=H
“thAEEESHAERKETE-
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Financial Summary
B 15 L2

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from
the published audited financial statements and reclassified as

appropriate, is set out below:

T XEFAE B ST AEN R EFE 2 A
LREERAGEHE DREBEECHRZILR
RHBHL YEEHHR (WMER) :

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+-BHL¥E

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
“E-NE —E-RF TR E —ZT—+F ZB-N\E
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK’000
TET TET TET TET T#ERT
RESULTS E$ |
Revenue LON 72,170 44,945 15,529 35,434 61,250
Loss before tax BREiRIEE (407,428) (355,281) (358,740) (309,045) (289,811)
Income tax credit/(expense)  FT3FE S,/ (Fi%) 662 (1,046) (805) (360) (18)
Loss for the year AEEFBR (406,766) (356,327) (359,545) (309,405) (289,829)
Attributable to AT ALRERE:
Owners of the Company AREEBA (415,156) (350,517) (355,303) (306,303) (288,571)
Non-controlling interests FERER (5,686) (5,810) (4,242) (3,375) (1,258)
(420,842) (356,327) (359,545) (309,405) (289,829)
As at 31 December
®+=ZR=+-H
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
—“E-MF —T-1F —ET-RF Z—+F ZB-N\E
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
FET FEx FET AT TET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR
Total assets BERE 719,315 2,321,701 1,909,963 1,666,590 1,300,218
Total liabilities AERE (106,902) (41,675) (48,545) (61,827) (61,170)
Net assets BEFE 612,413 2,280,026 1,861,418 1,604,763 1,239,048
Equity attributable to: DT AT bR
Owners of the Company ARRIEA A 577,140 2,243,571 1,827,339 1,567,543 1,209,437
Non-controlling interests MR ER 35,273 36,455 34,079 37,220 29,611
612,413 2,280,026 1,861,418 1,604,763 1,239,048
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